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I.
Liability TC "I.
Liability" \f C \l "1" 

A.
Motor Vehicle TC "A.
Motor Vehicle" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiff in Osetek v. Jeremiah, ___N.C.App.___, 621 S.E.2d 202 (2005), affirmed per curiam, ___N.C.___, 628 S.E.2d 760 (2006) TA \l "Osetek v. Jeremiah, ___N.C.App.___, 621 S.E.2d 202 (2005), affirmed per curiam, ___N.C.___, ___S.E.2d ___ (2006)" \s "Osetek v. Jeremiah, ___N.C.App.___, 621 S.E.2d 202 (2005), affirmed per curiam, ___N.C.___, ___S.E.2d ___ (2006)" \c 1  was stopped at a stop sign when her vehicle was struck from the rear by the defendant’s vehicle.  At trial, the plaintiff introduced medical bills totaling $15,554.30.  The plaintiff’s treating chiropractor testified about the plaintiff’s injuries.  At the close of all the evidence, the trial court granted the plaintiff’s motion for a directed verdict on the issue of the plaintiff’s contributory negligence.  The jury found the defendant negligent and awarded damages of $600.


On appeal, the plaintiff argued that the trial court erred by failing to instruct the jury as to the mandatory presumption on the issue of medical damages.  The Court of Appeals disagreed.  N.C.Gen.Stat. § 8-58.1 does create a rebuttable mandatory presumption as to the reasonableness of medical expenses under certain situations.  Since the parties did not stipulate to the plaintiff’s medical expenses, this was “an issue” left for the jury to decide.  621 S.E.2d at 205.  Defendant’s rebuttal evidence raised a question as to whether the plaintiff’s medical expenses were related to a prior collision.  The trial court instructed the jury following pattern jury instruction 101.62.  Since the defendant challenged the relationship between the medical bills introduced at trial and the plaintiff’s injuries, the trial judge properly refused to give an instruction as to the mandatory presumption on the issue of medical damages.  

The plaintiff in Hofecker v. Casperson, 168 N.C.App. 341, 607 S.E.2d 664, reversed per curiam, 360 N.C. 159, 622 S.E.2d 489 (2005) TA \l "Hofecker v. Casperson, 168 N.C.App. 341, 607 S.E.2d 664, reversed per curiam, 360 N.C. 159, 622 S.E.2d 489 (2005)" \s "Hofecker v. Casperson, 168 N.C.App. 341, 607 S.E.2d 664, reversed per curiam, 360 N.C. 159, 622 S.E.2d 489 (2005)" \c 1  was struck by the defendant’s vehicle as the plaintiff walked home from work.  The accident happened at 6:56 p.m. on 1 November 2001.  There were no street lights.  The plaintiff’s work uniform was also dark.  The defendant testified that he “caught a glimpse” of the plaintiff and that the plaintiff “came out of nowhere, walked directly into the path of my car and was wearing dark clothing.”  607 S.E.2d at 665.  The trial court granted the defendant’s motion for summary judgment on both contributory negligence and last clear chance.


The Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment based on contributory negligence.

In the instant case, while the evidence is inconclusive as to whether plaintiff was crossing RP-1423 or merely walking upon it when struck, the uncontroverted evidence indicates that plaintiff was walking in the northbound lane of RP-1423, outside of a crosswalk with his back to approaching traffic.  RP-1423 is an unlighted roadway with approximately eight feet of paved shoulder on both sides.  On the night of the accident, plaintiff was wearing dark colored coveralls with a light shirt. . . .  Although plaintiff stated in his answers to interrogatories that he “looked to see if there was any traffic coming” down RP-1423, plaintiff stated in his deposition that he did not recall seeing Jonathan’s headlights approaching, and when defendants’ counsel suggested “you wouldn’t have seen headlights because you were walking with the line of traffic, right, they were coming from behind you[,]” plaintiff answer in the affirmative.  607 S.E.2d at 667.

Based on the defendant’s interrogatory answers about when he first saw the plaintiff and his lack of opportunity to avoid hitting the plaintiff, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court had properly found the plaintiff contributorily negligent as a matter of law.


The majority of the Court of Appeals found that a genuine issue of fact existed on the issue of last clear chance, and, for this reason, summary judgment should not have been entered in favor of the defendant.  Judge Tyson dissented on this issue.  The Supreme Court agreed with Judge Tyson’s dissent and reversed.

Plaintiff’s allegation that Jonathan had the last clear chance to avoid the accident rests solely on the fact that Jonathan’s vehicle struck plaintiff while plaintiff was located somewhere in the roadway.  This allegation, standing alone, without a forecast of evidence to show Jonathan failed to maintain a proper lookout or that he could have avoided the accident, is insufficient to withstand a motion for summary judgment. . . .  Even if plaintiff was located in the roadway prior to the accident, this “fact” is not determinative of whether Jonathan should have discovered plaintiff.

   Plaintiff failed to forecast any evidence to show Jonathan was speeding, not paying attention, failed to maintain a proper lookout, or would have reasonably discovered plaintiff’s perilous position.  Presuming plaintiff’s location in the roadway, the majority’s resolution of any discrepancies in plaintiff’s favor regarding this “fact” is an insufficient basis to reverse the trial court’s judgment on last clear chance.  607 S.E.2d at 669-670.


The plaintiff in Ligon v. Matthew Allen Strickland, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 824 (2006) TA \l "Ligon v. Matthew Allen Strickland, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 824 (2006)" \s "Ligon v. Matthew Allen Strickland, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 824 (2006)" \c 1  alleged that he was struck by the defendant’s vehicle as he was walking along the side of the road.  On the evening of the accident, the plaintiff had been to a ball game and drank a bottle of beer.  He was walking along Green Valley Road in Buncombe County at 1:00 a.m., facing traffic and wearing dark clothes.  The plaintiff testified that he heard a “whoosh,” then recalled nothing until he woke up in the hospital.  

The defendant testified that he was driving along Green Valley Road when he saw an animal in the middle of the road.  The defendant swerved to his left and struck a fence off the left side of the road.  The defendant continuing driving to his house.  He and his father returned to the scene of the accident and saw the plaintiff “tangled up in the fence” at the point where the defendant recalled he struck the fence.

At the hospital, the plaintiff’s blood alcohol level was .08.  The plaintiff told the investigating highway patrolman that he was “in the roadway” at the time of the accident.  The trial court refused the defendants’ requested instruction on contributory negligence.  The jury returned a verdict for the plaintiff of $50,000.

Concluding that the trial court should have instructed on contributory negligence, the Court of Appeals reversed and ordered a new trial.

The narrative portion of the [highway patrol] report states, consistent with the diagram that “the pedestrian was struck by Vehicle 1.  Vehicle 1 and the pedestrian continued off the roadway to the left” before colliding with the fence.  (Emphasis added.)  In order to continue off the roadway after being struck, one must be in the roadway.  Although Ligon, at trial, challenged the basis for the officer’s statement that Ligon was in the road, Ligon was the party who offered the officer’s testimony and Ligon relied upon the report in establishing Strickland’s negligence.

   The jury should have had an opportunity to decide whether Ligon was in fact in the road.  When this evidence is considered in addition to evidence that Ligon was walking along a road at night in dark clothes while intoxicated, we believe that the trial court erred in failing to present the issue of contributory negligence to the jury.  625 S.E.2d at 830.

Based upon this evidence, the Court of Appeals agreed that the trial court should also have instructed on sudden emergency.  However, the trial judge modified N.C.P.I – Civ. 101.15 by instructing the jury that the doctrine of sudden emergency did not apply “if only a non-human animal is in danger.”  625 S.E.2d at 831.  On appeal, the defendant contended that this instruction may have been misunderstood by the jury not to apply regardless of “any accompanying danger to the driver.”  625 S.E.2d at 831.  The Court of Appeals was in general agreement with the defendant.

. . . on remand, we urge the trial court to take care to ensure than any sudden emergency instruction that is given focuses on whether the driver was “suddenly and unexpectedly confronted with imminent danger to himself or others.”  625 S.E.2d at 831.

Croom v. Humphrey, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 165, pet. disc. rev. denied, ___N.C.___, ___S.E.2d___, 2006 WL 1234875  (2006) TA \l "Croom v. Humphrey, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 165, pet. disc. rev. denied, ___N.C.___, ___S.E.2d___, 2006 WL 1234875  (2006)" \s "Croom v. Humphrey, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 165, pet. disc. rev. denied, ___N.C.___, ___S.E.2d___, 2006 WL 1234875  (2006)" \c 1  was an action for wrongful death arising from the decedent’s turning left into the defendant’s vehicle as the defendant was attempting to pass the decedent’s vehicle.  The jury returned a verdict for the defendant.  On appeal, the plaintiff contended that the trial court erred in failing to grant his motion for a directed verdict as to the defendant’s violation of G.S. § 20-150(d), prohibiting crossing the centerline of the highway at a curve.


The defendant was following the decedent’s vehicle and emerging from a curve when the defendant attempted to pass the decedent’s vehicle.  At this point in the highway, the highway was marked “with a broken yellow line adjacent to the lane” in which the defendant was traveling and “a solid yellow line adjacent to the opposite lane.  These markings indicated that Humphrey was permitted to move into the left lane to pass Croom if he could do so safely.”  625 S.E.2d at 166.


The Court of Appeals noted that G.S. § 20-150(d) does not define “centerline.”  The General Assembly has indicated that the Department of Transportation has the discretion on the question of highway markings.

Given the Legislature’s decision to delegate road-marking determinations to DOT, we are not inclined to construe section 20-150 to prohibit passing on a portion of the highway which DOT has marked to permit passing.  Accordingly, for the purposes of section 20-150, a “centerline” is a solid yellow line which indicates that passing from the adjacent lane is forbidden.  625 S.E.2d at 167.

The plaintiff in Oakes v. Wooten, ​​​___N.C.App.___, 620 S.E.2d 39 (2005) TA \l "Oakes v. Wooten, ​​​___N.C.App.___, 620 S.E.2d 39 (2005)" \s "Oakes v. Wooten, ___N.C.App.___, 620 S.E.2d 39 (2005)" \c 1  testified that he exited I-85 onto South Main Street in Graham and entered the intersection on a green light.  The defendant testified that she failed to stop for the red light at the intersection and collided with the plaintiff’s car.  As a result of injuries to his back and subsequent surgery, the jury awarded the plaintiff $119,000.


On appeal, the defendant contended that the trial court erred in failing to instruct on contributory negligence.  The plaintiff testified the he “surveyed the intersection” before entering and did not see the defendant.  The Court of Appeals held that the trial court properly refused to instruct on contributory negligence.

When taken in the light most favorable to defendants, the evidence fails to show that anything would have put Oakes on notice that Wooten would not obey the traffic light in time to avoid the collision. . . .  Oakes testified that he surveyed the intersection and did not see Wooten.  Wooten testified that she was not traveling at a high rate of speed and did not cross the stop line until Oakes had already turned in front of her.  Lynn [passenger in the plaintiff’s vehicle] testified that he attempted to shout a warning but was unable to complete it before the impact.  Even when viewed in the light most favorable to defendants, there is no evidence that Oakes failed to keep a proper lookout and exercise reasonable care in entering the intersection.  Therefore, the trial court did not err in refusing the jury instruction.  620 S.E.2d at 43.

Based on similar reasons, the Court of Appeals also held that the trial court had properly granted the plaintiff’s motion for a directed verdict on the issue of contributory negligence.  The trial judge gave a peremptory instruction to the jury on the defendant’s negligence in failing to stop for the red light.  Since the fact that the defendant ran the red light was not contested by the defendant, the Court held that the trial court properly gave the peremptory instruction.


The trial judge sanctioned the defendant and awarded attorneys’ fee related to the defendant’s failure to admit facts concerning the defendant’s violation of various motor vehicle laws, agency and that defendant was the sole proximate cause of the plaintiff’s herniated disc and related neurological symptoms and medical bills.  The Court of Appeals held that the trial court had abused its discretion in entering sanctions and awarding attorneys’ fees.

At the time the responses were made, when discovery had not yet begun, Wooten lacked knowledge to admit matters regarding Oakes’s medical condition and contributory negligence.  Wooten’s qualified denial as to her actions in failing to stop for the light was consistent with the evidence presented at trial and the trial court’s findings of proof of defendant’s negligence. . . .  Defendants, therefore, met their burden of proof in showing that at the time for request of admission, reasonable grounds existed to believe that they might prevail on some matters denied, and good reasons, i.e., defendants’ lack of knowledge, existed for the failure to admit other issues at that time.  Accordingly, we find the trial judge abused her discretion in awarding plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees. . . .  620 S.E.2d at 47.


B.
Premises TC "B.
Premises" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiff in Herring v. Food Lion, L.L.C., ___N.C.App.___, 623 S.E.2d 281 (2005), affirmed per curiam, ___N.C.___, ___S.E.2d ___, 2006 WL 1195503 (2006) TA \l "Herring v. Food Lion, L.L.C., ___N.C.App.___, 623 S.E.2d 281 (2005), affirmed per curiam, ___N.C.___, ___S.E.2d ___, 2006 WL 1195503 (2006)" \s "Herring v. Food Lion, L.L.C., ___N.C.App.___, 623 S.E.2d 281 (2005), affirmed per curiam, ___N.C.___, ___S.E.2d ___, 2006 WL 1195503 (2006)" \c 1  was injured when he hit the edge of a stock cart in the defendant’s store.  At trial, the plaintiff testified that he was pushing a shopping cart, stopped by the meat counter and walked to a soft drink display.  After picking up a bottle, the plaintiff turned to walk back to his shopping cart.  At this time, the plaintiff hit the edge of the stock cart, “which I did not see.”  The stock cart was lower than the plaintiff’s knee and about four and a half feet long.  The plaintiff further testified that the cart “was not anyplace around that [he] noticed. . . . hidden.”  623 S.E.2d at 282.  Although plaintiff testified at trial that he believed an employee of the defendant, Gurley, saw the incident, the plaintiff left the store without reporting his injury.  At the close of the plaintiff’s evidence, the trial court granted the defendant’s motion for a directed verdict.


The Court of Appeals and the Supreme Court affirmed.  As to the issue of negligence, the plaintiff produced no evidence as to how the stock cart was placed in the position at the time of the plaintiff’s injury.

No evidence whatsoever was presented regarding who left the stock cart in the position which caused plaintiff to fall, when it was placed there, or how long it remained.  Defendant’s evidence tended to show that vendors, such as Pepsi, Coca-Cola, and Frito Lay, are permitted to use stock carts owned by defendant.  Based on plaintiff’s evidence, the jury could only speculate who left the stock cart in a position causing plaintiff to fall, whether it be an employee, a vendor, or another customer, and how long it remained there.  623 S.E.2d at 284-285.

The plaintiff also did not present any evidence that the defendant was on actual or constructive notice of the location or condition of the cart.

Here, plaintiff presented no evidence to raise an inference the stock cart had been left in its position for some period of time prior to his fall to place defendant on notice. . . . Plaintiff presented no evidence whether this or another employee had seen or should have seen the cart before plaintiff fell.  Plaintiff also presented no evidence of how long the stock cart had been present in that position before he fell.  623 S.E.2d at 285.

The plaintiff in Grayson v. High Point Development, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 591 (2006) TA \l "Grayson v. High Point Development, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 591 (2006)" \s "Grayson v. High Point Development, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 591 (2006)" \c 1  was employed at the Belk’s store at the Oak Hollow Mall in High Point.  A heavy snow had fallen on 25 and 26 January 2004.  On the evening of 27 January 2004, the plaintiff left work and was walking to her car in the mall parking lot.  As she walked to her car, she slipped on ice and fell.  At her deposition, the plaintiff testified that she knew the condition of the parking lot, that the ice was slippery and that she told a co-worker that “somebody’s going to get killed out there.”  The trial court granted the defendant’s motion for summary judgment.


Finding no duty to warn the plaintiff of conditions of which she was aware, the Court of Appeals affirmed.

 . . . “a landowner is under no duty to protect a visitor against dangers either known or so obvious and apparent that they reasonably may be expected to be discovered . . . .” . . . .  Defendants argue that no duty was owed to plaintiff as the hazardous condition created by the ice was known to plaintiff, who, in fact, had knowledge of the hazard which was superior to defendants’.  Plaintiff’s own testimony demonstrates that she knew of the hazardous condition and, therefore, there exists no issue of genuine fact that defendant owed her no duty.  Accordingly, summary judgment in defendant’s favor was proper.  265 S.E.2d at 593.

The plaintiff in Bailey v. Handee Hugo’s Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 620 S.E.2d 312 (2005) TA \l "Bailey v. Handee Hugo’s Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 620 S.E.2d 312 (2005)" \s "Bailey v. Handee Hugo’s Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 620 S.E.2d 312 (2005)" \c 1  slipped and fell at a Handee Hugo’s on 18 April 2001.  The plaintiff was contacted by an adjuster for Federated Mutual Insurance Company indicating that Federated insured Handee Hugo’s.  Subsequent correspondence was exchanged between the plaintiff’s attorney and the Federated adjuster.  The adjuster said the Federated insureds were Handee Hugo’s and Sampson-Bladen, the operator of the store.  Suit was filed on 29 March 2004 against Handee Hugo’s and Sampson-Bladen.


The defendants filed a motion to dismiss on the grounds that United Energy, Inc. leased and operated the store.  On 19 July 2004, the plaintiff filed a motion to amend and add a new party.  The trial court granted the defendants’ motion to dismiss and denied the plaintiff’s motion to amend to add United Energy.  The Court of Appeals affirmed.  Disagreeing with the plaintiff’s reliance upon Hatcher v. Flockhart Foods, Inc., 161 N.C.App. 706, 589 S.E.2d 140 (2003), disc. review denied, 358 N.C. 234, 595 S.E.2d 150 (2004) TA \l "Hatcher v. Flockhart Foods, Inc., 161 N.C.App. 706, 589 S.E.2d 140 (2003), disc. review denied, 358 N.C. 234, 595 S.E.2d 150 (2004)" \s "Hatcher v. Flockhart Foods, Inc., 161 N.C.App. 706, 589 S.E.2d 140 (2003), disc. review denied, 358 N.C. 234, 595 S.E.2d 150 (2004)" \c 1 , the Court held that equitable estoppel did not apply.

In the Hatcher case the Court applied equitable estoppel where there was active misrepresentation on the part of the insurance company as to whom the insured was and, furthermore, there was no public record of the lease which indicated the responsible party on file in the Register of Deeds.  In the instant case a search of the Register of Deeds would have revealed the owner of the land on which the incident occurred as well as the lease extended to the operator of the store.  620 S.E.2d at 315.

Although not “condoning” the actions of the insurance company, and, in fact, finding “the misrepresentation reprehensible,” 620 S.E.2d at 315, the Court affirmed the trial court’s dismissal.

The plaintiff in Wallen v. Riverside Sports Center, ___ N.C.App. ___, 618 S.E.2d 858 (2005) TA \l "Wallen v. Riverside Sports Center, ___ N.C.App. ___, ___ S.E.2d ___ (2005)" \s "Wallen v. Riverside Sports Center, ___ N.C.App. ___, ___ S.E.2d ___ (2005)" \c 1  was fishing on the Cape Fear River when a storm arose.  The plaintiff came back to the defendants’ boat ramp and was waiting his turn to get off the river.  While he was waiting, a Boxelder tree fell on the plaintiff causing injuries that rendered the plaintiff a paraplegic.  The trial court granted the defendants’ motion for summary judgment.


Finding that there was a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the defendants had constructive notice of the defective condition of the tree, the Court of Appeals reversed.  The plaintiff’s expert, Kenneth Knox, testified that the Boxelder tree was extensively decayed and exhibited evidence of the decay through numerous dead branches.  In his opinion, these conditions should have been observed by the defendants and the tree cut down before it fell on the plaintiff.

We hold that defendants in the instant case had a duty to exercise reasonable care with respect to natural conditions on their land, which was adjacent to a public highway.  Provided, however, defendants are subject to liability only if they had actual or constructive notice of a dangerous natural condition existing upon their land.  At the time plaintiff was injured he was on a “public highway,” since “navigable waters constitute a public highway.” . . . .  In this case, the parties’ use of the pylons to temporarily secure the boat was directly related to their use of defendants’ boat ramp, for which they paid a fee.  Defendants knew their pylons were regularly used by their customers to tie their boats while waiting to use the boat ramp.  The Boxelder tree, which fell on the boat, had broken off once before the 31 August 2001 incident and exhibited signs of decay.  This tree also hung out over the river and the pylon to which George tied his boat. . . . the evidence presented to the trial court presented a genuine issue of material fact on the issue of defendants’ negligence.  618 S.E.2d at 862-63.

The plaintiff in Freeman v. Food Lion, LLC, ___N.C.App.___, 617 S.E.2d 698 (2005) TA \l "Freeman v. Food Lion, LLC, ___N.C.App.___, ___ S.E.2d ___ (2005)" \s "Freeman v. Food Lion, LLC, ___N.C.App.___, ___ S.E.2d ___ (2005)" \c 1  was a patron at a Food Lion store when she was struck by a buffer machine operated by John Robinson who was wearing ear phones.  Robinson had previously knocked down orange cones located at the front of the store.  Robinson was hired by Amron Janitorial to service the Food Lion floors.  The plaintiff filed suit against Food Lion, Budget Services (the company who contracted with Food Lion to maintain the floors), Frank’s Floor Care (who contracted with Budget Services to maintain the floor), and Amron Janitorial )who contracted with Budget Services and hired Robinson).  The trial court granted the motions for summary judgment as to Food Lion, Budget Services and Frank’s Floor Care.


On appeal, the plaintiff argued that genuine issues of material fact existed as to whether Robinson was an agent, employee or independent contractor of the defendants.  The Court of Appeals held that the failure of the plaintiff to plead these relationships barred consideration of this issue on appeal.

However, plaintiff failed to raise the issue of whether Robinson was an agent, employee, or independent contractor of defendants in her complaint or base her theory of recovery from Food Lion, Budget Services, or Frank’s Floor Care on vicarious liability.  Therefore, we conclude that whether or not plaintiff can hold Food Lion, Budget Services, or Frank’s Floor Care vicariously liable is not an issue properly before this Court. . . . “the law does not permit parties to swap horses between courts in order to get a better mount . . . .”  617 S.E.2d at 701.

Summary judgment as to Budget Services and Frank’s Floor Care was affirmed.

Because neither Budget Services nor Frank’s Floor Care owned nor operated the store in which plaintiff’s injury occurred and because plaintiff has failed to allege in her complaint that Budget Services or Frank’s Floor Care were agents of Food Lion, we hold that they had no duty to plaintiff and that, therefore, they may not be held liable under a theory of premises liability.  617 S.E.2d at 701.

However, since Food Lion was the owner of the store, it owed a duty to the plaintiff to keep the premises safe and warn the plaintiff of hidden dangers.  Summary judgment for Food Lion was reversed because of issues of fact concerning the duty to warn.

These genuine issues of material fact should have been submitted for resolution by the jury – not this Court. . . . – such as whether (1) Food Lion properly warned plaintiff about the cleaning service buffing the floor nearby; (2) Food Lion failed to use ordinary care in providing a safe premise for plaintiff to shop; (3) plaintiff contributed to her own injury by failing to exercise the use of ordinary care; (4) the buffer machine presented an obvious danger to plaintiff; and (5) a reasonably prudent person exercising ordinary care would have, and should have, noticed the buffer prior to the collision and avoided the dangers of such machinery. 617 S.E.2d at 702.

C.
Employment TC "C.
Employment" \f C \l "2" 
The plaintiffs in Little v. Omega Meats I, Inc., 171 N.C.App. 583, 615 S.E.2d 45, affirmed per curiam, 360 N.C. 164, 622 S.E.2d 494 (2005) TA \l "Little v. Omega Meats I, Inc., 171 N.C.App.583, 615 S.E.2d 45, affirmed per curiam, 360 N.C. 164, 622 S.E.2d 494 (2005)" \s "Little v. Omega Meats I, Inc., 171 N.C.App.583, 615 S.E.2d 45, affirmed per curiam, 360 N.C. 164, 622 S.E.2d 494 (2005)" \c 1  were assaulted in their home by Smith, an independent contractor for Omega.  Omega sold meat products through independent contractor salesmen.  The salesmen rented refrigerator trucks and attempted to sell meat door to door.  Omega did not supervise or control the salesmen and did not participate in identifying the areas where the salesmen attempted to sell meat.  On 23 March 2001, Smith, an Omega independent salesman, parked his truck in the driveway of the house next to the plaintiffs.  He broke into the plaintiffs’ house and assaulted both plaintiffs.  He was convicted of kidnapping, felony assault, robbery, and felonious breaking and entering.


Smith first worked for Omega in 1997.  A criminal background check was not conducted.  If a background check had been conducted in 1997, it would have shown that Smith had been convicted of common law robbery and kidnapping and had served a prison sentence of 26 months.  When Smith was released from prison, he returned to work for Omega.  The assault on the plaintiffs occurred during his second employment period.


At the close of the plaintiffs’ evidence, the trial court granted a directed verdict as to the claims against Omega and its president.  The Court of Appeals affirmed.  Since Smith was an independent contractor, the plaintiffs were required to show that the defendants owed a duty to the plaintiffs and that the breach of that duty resulted in the plaintiffs’ damages.  Acknowledging that nondelegable duties may arise in the case of ultra-hazardous or inherently dangerous work, Woodson v. Rowland, 329 N.C. 330, 407 S.E.2d 222 (1991) TA \l "Woodson v. Rowland, 329 N.C. 330, 407 S.E.2d 222 (1991)" \s "Woodson v. Rowland, 329 N.C. 330, 407 S.E.2d 222 (1991)" \c 1 , or innkeepers, Page v. Sloan, 281 N.C. 697, 190 S.E.2d 189 (1972) TA \l "Page v. Sloan, 281 N.C. 697, 190 S.E.2d 189 (1972)" \s "Page v. Sloan, 281 N.C. 697, 190 S.E.2d 189 (1972)" \c 1 , the Court held that no duty by the defendants to the plaintiffs existed under these facts.

In the instant case Smith was not in a place where he had a legal right to be since he broke in to plaintiffs’ home; Smith and plaintiffs did not meet as a direct result of Smith’s relationship with defendants, since he did not enter plaintiffs’ home as a salesman; finally, defendants received no benefit, direct, indirect or potential, from the tragic “meeting” between Smith and plaintiffs.  We have found no authority in North Carolina suggesting that defendants owed plaintiffs a duty of care on these facts, and we hold that in fact none existed.

   We refuse to make employers insurers to the public at large by imposing a legal duty on employers for victims of their independent contractors’ intentional torts that bear no relationship to the employment.  We note that because this is a direct action against the employer, for the purposes of this appeal the result would be the same if Smith had been an employee of defendants instead of an independent contractor.  Smith could have perpetrated the exact same crimes against these plaintiffs, in the exact same manner, and with identical chances of success, on a day that he was not selling Omega’s meats and driving Omega’s vehicle.  615 S.E.2d at 49.


The Court further held that even if the defendants owed a duty to the plaintiffs, there was no evidence that any negligence by the defendants proximately caused the plaintiffs’ injuries.

While plaintiff may be correct in their assertion that sending Smith into residences could foreseeably create an unreasonable risk of harm, the foreseeability of a risk of harm is insufficient unless defendants’ negligent hiring or retention of Smith in some manner actually caused the injury in question. . . .  though Smith was driving an Omega truck, his association with defendants did not advance his criminal endeavor in any manner.  The same result would have occurred had he not been driving an Omega truck.  Therefore, even assuming arguendo that defendants were negligent in hiring Smith, the negligence was not the proximate cause of plaintiffs’ injuries.  615 S.E.2d at 50.


The plaintiff in Iadanza v. Harper, 169 N.C.App. 776, 611 S.E.2d 217, petition for discretionary review denied, 360 N.C. 63, 621 S.E. 2d 624 (2005) TA \l "Iadanza v. Harper, ___N.C.App.___, 611 S.E.2d 217 (2005)" \s "Iadanza v. Harper, ___N.C.App.___, 611 S.E.2d 217 (2005)" \c 1  alleged medical malpractice arising from the defendant’s treatment of the plaintiff for gastrointestinal symptoms.  The trial court granted the defendant’s motion for partial summary judgment “on the issue of actual damages.”  The defendant’s argument at the trial court and on appeal was that the plaintiff was not entitled to “general damages because she did not offer proof of ‘physical pain and suffering.’”


The Court of Appeals reversed.  The Court noted that physical pain and suffering “may be a discrete basis for recovery.” 611 S.E.2d at 221.  Similarly, the defendant’s argument that the plaintiff had no proof of severe emotional distress incorrectly incorporated the evidence required for a claim for negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress.

Defendant also argues that plaintiff cannot recover general damages for pain and suffering without proof of “severe emotional distress.”  This argument confuses the “severe emotional distress” that is an essential element of a claim for negligent or intentional infliction of emotional distress, with the emotional suffering that may be part of a claim seeking damages for general “pain and suffering.”  Defendant cites no cases in support of the proposition that, the psychological component of damages for “pain and suffering” must meet the same standard as the element of “severe emotional distress” that is part of claims for infliction of emotional distress, and we find none.  611 S.E.2d at 221-222.

II.
Insurance TC "II.
Insurance" \f C \l "1" 

A.
Motor Vehicle TC "A.
Motor Vehicle" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiff in Hernandez v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co., ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 425, pet. disc. rev. denied, 360 N.C. 63, 621 S.E. 2d 624 (2005) TA \l "Hernandez v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co., ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 425, pet. disc. rev. denied, ___N.C.___, 621 S.E. 2d 624 (2005)" \s "Hernandez v. Nationwide Mutual Insurance Co., ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 425, petition for discretionary review denied, ___N.C.___, 621 S.E. 2d 624 (2005)" \c 1  filed a declaratory judgment action to determine coverage for an unsatisfied judgment she received arising out of a traffic accident on 17 April 2001.  At the time of the accident, Ms. Norris was insured through an automobile insurance policy with Nationwide for family vehicles.  Ms. Norris was in the process of purchasing a 1997 Chevrolet Blazer.  All paperwork necessary for the purchase had been completed, but the title had not been transferred to Ms. Norris.  She was driving the Blazer at the time of the accident with the plaintiff.  The plaintiff received a jury verdict against the automobile sales company and Ms. Norris.  The liability carrier for the auto sales company paid its limits, leaving $10,000 of the jury verdict unpaid.


The trial court granted the plaintiff’s motion for summary judgment finding coverage by Nationwide.  The Court of Appeals affirmed on the basis that the Blazer was a “non-owned vehicle” for which coverage was available through Nationwide’s policy.

“[A]ll cars which are not owned within the meaning of G.S. 20-72(b) are insured ‘non-owned’ automobiles except those which are furnished for the regular use of the insured or his relative.” . . . .  Norris was a would-be purchaser in the midst of an unfinished sale and purchase.  She had been given only temporary and limited control and possession of the Blazer; in fact, Norris was operating the Blazer under a temporary permit issued on 13 April by S & J for her test drive.  Because at the time of the accident the Blazer was not furnished for Norris’ regular use, . . . the exclusion . . . [does not apply].  Thus, we conclude that the Nationwide policy does provide coverage for Norris driving the Blazer as a non-owned vehicle.  615 S.E.2d at 426-427.


McGuire v. Draughon, ___N.C.App.___, 612 S.E.2d 428 (2005) TA \l "McGuire v. Draughon, ___N.C.App.___, 612 S.E.2d 428 (2005)" \s "McGuire v. Draughon, ___N.C.App.___, 612 S.E.2d 428 (2005)" \c 1  was a declaratory judgment action to determine whether Farm Bureau’s “regular use” exclusion of coverage applied.  The defendant Mollie Draughon was operating a 1993 Ford Explorer owned by her mother-in-law, Betty Draughon, when she was involved in a collision on 6 October 2001 with a motorcycle operated by the plaintiff.  At the time of the accident, the Ford Explorer was insured by Travelers with liability limits of $50,000 per person.  At the time of the accident, Mollie Draughon and her husband, Theodore, owned two vehicles insured by Farm Bureau.  The Farm Bureau policies had limits of $250,000 per person.  The Farm Bureau policy also excluded coverage for any vehicle furnished for the insured’s “regular use.”


The evidence before the trial court indicated that the Draughons lived next door on the same lot as Betty Draughon.  The Ford Explorer was parked in the shared driveway between the two houses.  Mollie Draughon testified that she drove the Explorer two or three times a week to run errands, go to work and take Betty Draughon places she needed to go.


The trial court granted Farm Bureau’s motion for summary judgment finding there was no coverage under the policy.  The Court of Appeals affirmed.  Relying upon Whaley v. Great American Insurance Co., 259 N.C. 545, 131 S.E.2d 491 (1963) TA \l "Whaley v. Great American Insurance Co., 259 N.C. 545, 131 S.E.2d 491 (1963)" \s "Whaley v. Great American Insurance Co., 259 N.C. 545, 131 S.E.2d 491 (1963)" \c 1 , the Court considered the factors of “availability of the vehicle to the insured” and “frequency of use by the insured” in deciding whether the use of the vehicle was regular.

In this case, the evidence established that Betty Draughon “furnished” the vehicle for Mollie and Theodore’s use by leaving it in the shared driveway between their houses and placing no restrictions on its use.  She did not require them to ask her permission before using it, and she did not drive it herself.  She allowed them to take it out of town, the Draughons possessed three keys for the Explorer, and the vehicle was clearly available for Mollie’s use on almost any given day for a period of nearly two years, regardless of whether she needed assistance to close the driver’s side door.  The fact that Betty Draughon retained possession of the title is of no consequence to the issue of whether the car was unavailable to Mollie.  “Where an insured driver has the unrestricted use and possession of an automobile, the certificate of title for which is retained by another the car is ‘furnished for the regular use of’ the insured driver.” . . . .  Mollie’s use of the Explorer, however, was consistent as well as continuing. . . .  The plain meaning of “regular” does not imply “daily,” and we decline to create such a bright line rule. . . .  Mollie’s consistent and recurring use of the Explorer was sufficient to satisfy the frequency prong of the analysis.  612 S.E.2d at 431.

B.
Underinsured/Uninsured TC "B.
Underinsured/Uninsured" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiff in Sawyers v. Farm Bureau Ins., 170 N.C.App. 17, 612 S.E.2d 184, reversed per curiam, 360 N.C. 158, 622 S.E.2d 490 (2005) TA \l "Sawyers v. Farm Bureau Ins., 170 N.C.App. 17, 612 S.E.2d 184, reversed per curiam, 360 N.C. 158, 622 S.E.2d 490 (2005)" \s "Sawyers v. Farm Bureau Ins., 170 N.C.App. 17, 612 S.E.2d 184, reversed per curiam, 360 N.C. 158, 622 S.E.2d 490 (2005)" \c 1  was a passenger in an automobile involved in an accident in Florida on 10 August 1996.  The driver of the other vehicle, Benbow, was alleged to be uninsured.  The plaintiff was an insured under an uninsurance policy with Farm Bureau.  Suit was filed in Florida on 28 May 1999 against Benbow and Farm Bureau.  Summons was issued to Farm Bureau and service was made on the North Carolina Commissioner of Insurance.  Farm Bureau made a special appearance and moved to dismiss the Florida action based on lack of jurisdiction.  The plaintiff and Farm Bureau then entered into a “Joint Motion for Order of Dismissal.”  The Florida trial court then dismissed Farm Bureau from the action.  The plaintiff received a judgment in the Florida action of $200,000.


The present action was filed on 11 April 2002 pursuant to G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(3) providing that an insurer shall be bound by a final judgment “if the insurer has been served with copy of summons, complaint or other process.”  The trial court granted Farm Bureau’s motion for summary judgment and dismissed the action.  The Court of Appeals reversed on the grounds that Farm Bureau had been served in the Florida action and was, therefore, bound by the Florida judgment.  Judge Steelman dissented.


The Supreme Court reversed for the reasons stated in Judge Steelman’s dissent.  First, suit against Farm Bureau directly was “in direct contravention” of G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(3) providing that the insurer shall not be named in the caption of the pleadings.  612 S.E.2d at 192.  Judge Steelman stated that Farm Bureau was not a party to the Florida action because the Florida court did not have jurisdiction over Farm Bureau.  Judge Steelman was also of the opinion that the present action was barred by the three year statute of limitations for filing a claim against an uninsured motorist carrier.  Thomas v. Washington, 136 N.C.App. 750, 525 S.E.2d 839 (2000) TA \l "Thomas v. Washington, 136 N.C.App. 750, 525 S.E.2d 839 (2000)" \s "Thomas v. Washington, 136 N.C.App. 750, 525 S.E.2d 839 (2000)" \c 1 .  The accident occurred on 10 August 1996, and suit was not filed in North Carolina until 11 April 2002.


Judge Steelman also rejected the majority’s reliance upon res judicata and estoppel.

However, plaintiff attempts to bind Farm Bureau to the Florida judgment by arguing that N.C.Gen.Stat. § 20-279.21(b)(3) allows the application of offensive res judicata so long as Farm Bureau was provided with service of process, thereby superceding the common law requirements for the application of the doctrine.  A more reasonable construction of the statute is that it is merely an extension of the common law doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel.  It is evident that the statute requires Farm Bureau to be a party in order to be bound by a judgment, just as the common law would require.  This statutory requirement is intended to reiterate the common law understanding of res judicata and the need for mutual estoppel.  It does not supercede the common law and allow the mere providing of notice of the action to be sufficient to bind a person as a party.  Since Farm Bureau was not a party at the time the judgment was entered, and the Florida court did not have jurisdiction over Farm Bureau, neither res judicata nor N.C.Gen.Stat. § 20-279.21(b)(3) can bind Farm Bureau to the Florida judgment.  612 S.E.2d at 194.


Williams v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., ___N.C.App.___, 621 S.E.2d 644 (2005), pet. disc. rev. allowed (April 6, 2006) TA \l "Williams v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., ___N.C.App.___, 621 S.E.2d 644 (2005), pet. disc. rev. allowed (April 6, 2006)" \s "Williams v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., ___N.C.App.___, 621 S.E.2d 644 (2005), pet. disc. rev. allowed (April 6, 2006)" \c 1  was a declaratory judgment action to determine the amount of underinsurance available to the plaintiff.  On 17 July 2001, Ashley Williams was injured while riding as a passenger in a vehicle owned by David Canady and operated by his son, Jeremy Canady.  The parties stipulated that the negligence of Jeremy was the sole proximate cause of the accident.


At the time of the accident the Canadys had liability limits with Nationwide of $50,000 per person and $100,000 per accident.  Ms. Williams was an insured under the Canaday policy with Nationwide for the purposes of UIM coverage.  The Nationwide agent did not offer the Canadys the opportunity to select or reject UIM limits greater than their liability limits.  At the time of the accident, G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4) provided that the amount of UIM coverage would not be less than the liability limits and would not be greater than $1 million.  The trial court granted the plaintiffs’ motion for summary judgment and concluded that the available UIM coverage was $1 million.


The Court of Appeals affirmed.  The Court stated that when the insured is not given the opportunity to select or reject UIM coverage, then the insured is entitled to the highest available UIM limits.

A total failure on the part of the insurer to provide an opportunity to reject UIM coverage or select different UIM policy limits violates the requirement that these choices be made by the policy owner.  Such a failure should not invoke the minimum UIM coverage limits established in N.C.G.S. § 20-279.21(b)(4) and shield the insurer from additional liability.  So doing would violate the purpose of the statute to protect the insured and allow them to choose their policy benefits.  621 S.E.2d at 647.

C.
Life TC "C.
Life" \f C \l "2" 

The decedent in Duncan v. CUNA Mutual Insurance Society, 171 N.C.App. 403, 614 S.E.2d 592 (2005) TA \l "Duncan v. CUNA Mutual Insurance Society, ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 592 (2005)" \s "Duncan v. CUNA Mutual Insurance Society, ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 592 (2005)" \c 1  was insured under a life insurance policy with the defendant for $150,000.  The policy excluded coverage and benefits for “voluntary use of any drug, medicine, or sedative, except as prescribed by a physician.”  614 S.E.2d at 593.  The decedent’s body was found in the living room of his house.  An autopsy indicated that the cause of death was “methadone toxicity.”  Based on the autopsy report, the trial court granted the defendant’s motion for summary judgment.


The Court of Appeals affirmed on the basis of the conclusions in the autopsy report.

The uncontradicted evidence was that the immediate cause of Duncan’s death was “methadone toxicity.”  Neither party disputes that methadone is a “drug, medicine, or sedative,” or that Duncan had a history of alcohol and substance abuse.  Duncan’s body was found in his own living room, with no evidence of forced entry or foul play.  We conclude that defendants met their burden to show that the exclusion bars plaintiff from recovering under the policy.  614 S.E.2d at 595.

When the defendant presented the evidence through the autopsy report, the burden shifted to the plaintiff to demonstrate the existence of a material fact concerning the exception to the use of drugs being “as prescribed by a physician.”  Attempting to create an issue of fact, the plaintiff presented the affidavit of a substance abuse counselor stating that the decedent had been counseled for alcohol and substance abuse.  The counselor, however, did not have “first-hand information” about the decedent’s use of methadone.  The Court of Appeals held that the affidavit did not meet the requirements of Rule 701, North Carolina Rules of Evidence, and Rule 56(e).

In the instant case, Ringer’s conclusions were based on: general information about methadone; plaintiff’s hearsay testimony that Duncan told her he fell out of a tree and might see a doctor; and on two articles, one a “recent study” by the American Medical Association, the other a press release from the N.C. Department of Health and Human Services.  Because Ringer’s opinions were neither based on his personal knowledge, nor proffered as expert opinions, his affidavit does not meet the requirement of N.C.G.S. § 1A-1, Rule 56(e) that affidavits be “made on personal knowledge, [and] shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence.”  614 S.E.2d at 596.

D.
Exclusion for Intentional Acts TC "D.
Exclusion for Intentional Acts" \f C \l "2" 

Allstate Insurance Co. v. Lahoud, 167 N.C.App. 205, 605 S.E.2d 180 (2004), per curiam affirmed, 359 N.C. 628, 614 S.E.2d 304 (2005) TA \l "Allstate Insurance Co. v. Lahoud, 167 N.C.App. 205, 605 S.E.2d 180 (2004), per curiam affirmed, ___N.C.___, 614 S.E.2d 304 (2005)" \s "Allstate Insurance Co. v. Lahoud, 167 N.C.App. 205, 605 S.E.2d 180 (2004), per curiam affirmed, ___N.C.___, 614 S.E.2d 304 (2005)" \c 1  was a declaratory judgment action to determine the plaintiff’s obligation to defend the defendant in a civil action for allegations of sexual assault.  While the defendant was on a business trip to Virginia, it was alleged that he sexually assaulted a nine-year old.  The defendant was charged in state court with one count of taking indecent liberties with a child.  The State allowed the defendant to plead guilty in exchange for a suspended sentence, an apology and payment of therapy bills on behalf of the child.  The present action alleged the same facts as those upon which the criminal charge was based.


At the time of the events alleged, the defendant was an insured under a personal umbrella policy.  The Allstate policy excluded coverage for “any intentionally harmful act or omission of an insured.”  605 S.E.2d at 183.  The trial court granted Allstate’s motion for summary judgment.


The Court of Appeals affirmed summary judgment for Allstate and agreed that there was no coverage for the facts alleged.

In the present case, we believe that the exclusion applies because plaintiff presented sufficient evidence showing that defendant’s actions were intentionally harmful.  Defendant was accused of taking indecent liberties with a minor.  He pled guilty to the charge, accepted responsibility, and made the following statement: “I would like to apologize to the young man who is the victim and his family.  He has done nothing wrong.  I am completely responsible and I am sorry.” . . . .  the guilty plea established that defendant had the intent to commit the act.  605 S.E.2d at 184.


In opposition to Allstate’s summary judgment motion, the defendant submitted an affidavit contending that his acts were unintentional or negligent.  The Court of Appeals rejected the defendant’s argument that the affidavit was sufficient to create an issue of fact and defeat summary judgment.

It is well settled that a nonmovant may not generate a conflict simply by filing an affidavit contradicting his own sworn testimony where the only issue raised is credibility.  The issue is not whether the underlying facts as testified to by Lahoud might have supported a jury verdict that he was merely negligent, but whether his affidavit and deposition contradicting earlier testimony in court is sufficient to create an issue of fact.  We conclude that although Lahoud’s account of the underlying fact situation might, in other circumstances, be enough to defeat summary judgment, once Allstate supported its summary judgment motion with Lohoud’s sworn testimony, Lahoud can only defeat summary judgment on the issue of his intentional acts by producing evidence other than his own affidavit or deposition contradicting his own testimony.  605 S.E.2d at 185.

E.
Independent Insurance Adjusters TC "E.
Independent Insurance Adjusters" \f C \l "2" 

The home of the plaintiffs in Koch v. Bell, Lewis & Associates, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 627 S.E.2d 636 (2006) TA \l "Koch v. Bell, Lewis & Associates, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 627 S.E.2d 636 (2006)" \s "Koch v. Bell, Lewis & Associates, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 627 S.E.2d 636 (2006)" \c 1  had synthetic stucco applied by Quality Stucco Systems.  When it was discovered that the stucco was defective, plaintiffs filed a claim against Quality.  Quality was insured by Southern Guaranty Insurance.  The defendant, Bell, Lewis & Associates, acted as adjusters for Southern Guaranty.  Travis, an adjuster for Bell, Lewis, contacted the plaintiffs and told them that the insurance company would pay for part of the cost of repairs, but only if the plaintiffs agreed that the work would be done by Quality.  Plaintiffs agreed that Quality would re-clad their home.  The plaintiffs received an additional $10,000 and signed a general release of all claims.  After Quality replaced the stucco, it was discovered that this system had failed.  The plaintiffs sued Bell, Lewis and Southern Guaranty alleging claims for negligence and unfair and deceptive trade practices.  The trial court dismissed all claims against all defendants.


The Court of Appeals affirmed.  As a matter of first impression, the Court of Appeals held that the independent adjusters owed no duty to the plaintiffs who were not the insureds of Southern Guaranty.  Therefore, claims for negligence could not be brought by the plaintiffs against Bell, Lewis.  Similarly, the claims against Bell, Lewis for unfair and deceptive trade practices were properly dismissed because “North Carolina does not recognize a cause of action for third-party claimants against the insurance company of an adverse party based on unfair and deceptive trade practices under N.C.Gen.Stat. § 75-1.1.”  627 S.E.2d at 639.  The claims against Southern Guaranty were correctly dismissed because the plaintiffs had signed a general release as to Southern Guaranty for all claims, past and future, arising from the acts of Quality.


F.
Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices TC "F.
Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiffs in Page v. Lexington Ins. Co., ___N.C.App.___, 628 S.E.2d 427 (2006) TA \l "Page v. Lexington Ins. Co., ___N.C.App.___, 628 S.E.2d 427 (2006)" \s "Page v. Lexington Ins. Co., ___N.C.App.___, 628 S.E.2d 427 (2006)" \c 1  alleged personal injury and property damage resulting from the rupture of an underground sewer line on their property on 21 February 2001.  They filed a claim with the defendant.  When their claim was not settled, they filed suit on 28 July 2004 alleging breach of contract, bad faith and unfair and deceptive trade practices.  The trial court granted the defendant’s motion to dismiss the complaint.  The trial court based the dismissal on the failure of the complaint to allege sufficiently a claim for unfair and deceptive trade practices.  As an additional ground, the trial court acknowledged that the statute of limitations for unfair and deceptive trade practices is four years, but based dismissal on the inequity of allowing a three-year limitation period for breach of contract to be extended for one year by alleging a claim for unfair and deceptive trade practices.


The Court of Appeals reversed.  The complaint alleged violations of G.S. § 58-63-15(11)(b),(d), (e) and (f) based on failure to communicate with plaintiffs about the claim; failure to investigate the claim; failure to promptly affirm or deny coverage; and failure to make a fair settlement of the claim.  Since these allegations were required to be taken as true when considering a 12(b)(6) motion, a claim for unfair and deceptive trade practices was alleged.

An insurance company that engages in the act or practice of “not attempting in good faith to effectuate prompt, fair and equitable settlements of claims in which liability has become reasonably clear,” N.C.G.S. § 58-63-15(11)(f), also engages in conduct that embodies the broader standards of N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1 because such conduct is inherently unfair, unscrupulous, immoral, and injurious to consumers.  Thus, such conduct that violates subsection (f) of N.C.G.S. § 58-63-14(11) constitutes a violation of N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1 as a matter of law, without the necessity of an additional showing of frequency indicating a “general business practice.”  N.C.G.S. § 58-63-15(11).  628 S.E.2d at 429.


Even though the plaintiffs’ claims for breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty and bad faith were barred by the three-year statute of limitations, the claim for unfair and deceptive trade practices was filed within the four-year period.

However, plaintiffs’ UDTP claim was separate and distinct from plaintiffs’ claims on the underlying insurance policy, and the UDTP claim is therefore governed by the four-year statute of limitations applicable to such claims. . . .  The incident giving rise to plaintiffs’ UDTP claim occurred on 21 February 2001 and plaintiffs filed their complaint on 28 July 2004, less than four years later.  628 S.E.2d at 430.

The plaintiff in Craven v. Demidovich, ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 722 (2005), pet. disc. rev. denied, 360 N.C. 62, 623 S.E.2d 581, TA \l "Craven v. Demidovich, ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 722 (2005), pet. disc. rev. denied, 2005 WL 3272251 (November 3, 2005)" \s "Craven v. Demidovich, ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 722 (2005), pet. disc. rev. denied, 2005 WL 3272251 (November 3, 2005)" \c 1  was a passenger in a vehicle driven by Ms. Demidovich.  The plaintiff was injured when Ms. Demidovich turned left in front of a vehicle operated by Mr. Wing.  At the time of the accident, Ms. Demidovich was insured under an automobile liability policy issued by GEICO.  The present action alleged unfair and deceptive trade practices and bad faith against GEICO based on its refusal to adjust the plaintiff’s claim in a timely manner.  The trial court granted GEICO’s motion to dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6).


The Court of Appeals affirmed.

“North Carolina does not recognize a cause of action for third-party claimants against the insurance company of an adverse party based on unfair and deceptive trade practices under N.C.G.S. § 75-1.1.” . . . . Nothing in plaintiff’s complaint asserts that there is any privity between plaintiff and GEICO, and therefore, even liberally construing the complaint and taking it as true, plaintiff cannot set forth any set of facts which would entitle him to relief.  615 S.E.2d at 724.

G.
Attorney-Client Privilege TC "G.
Attorney-Client Privilege" \f C \l "2" 

In Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Co. v. Bourlon, ___N.C.App.___, 617 S.E.2d 40 (2005), affirmed per curiam, 360 N.C. 356, 625 S.E.2d 779 (2006), TA \l "Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Co. v. Bourlon, ___N.C.App.___, 617 S.E.2d 40 (2005), affirmed per curiam, 360 N.C. 356, 625 S.E.2d 779 (2006)" \s "Nationwide Mutual Fire Insurance Co. v. Bourlon, ___N.C.App.___, 617 S.E.2d 40 (2005), affirmed per curiam, 360 N.C. 356, 625 S.E.2d 779 (2006)" \c 1  Nationwide insured Bourlon under a homeowners’ policy with personal injury limits of $300,000.  The underlying suit was filed by Axarlis and alleged that one of Bourlon’s dogs bit him in the face.  Claims filed by Axarlis included malicious prosecution, abuse of the criminal process and assault.  Nationwide informed Bourlon that Lee Patterson had been assigned to represent him.  Nationwide also told Bourlon that the homeowners’ policy did not provide coverage for malicious prosecution and abuse of process.


A jury awarded Axarlis $321,000 in compensatory and punitive damages.  The verdict included $1,000 in compensatory damages and $150,000 in punitive damages arising from the malicious prosecution claim.  The jury award did not mention the abuse of process claim.  During the filing of post-trial motions, Axarlis told Patterson that he would settle the jury verdict for $236,000.  Nationwide offered to contribute $200,000 if Bourlon would pay $36,000.  Bourlon offered to contribute $20,000.  Axarlis refused this offer.  Nationwide then settled the covered claims with Axarlis.  Axarlis demanded that Nationwide settle all claims.  When Nationwide refused, Axarlis and Bourlon reached a separate settlement of the malicious prosecution verdict.

Bourlon requested a copy of his file from Patterson.  After Nationwide’s counsel received advice from the State Bar, Patterson’s file was delivered to Bourlon.  Nationwide filed the present action seeking a declaration that it was not required to indemnify Bourlon for any amounts paid to settle the malicious prosecution claim.  Bourlon’s answer included counterclaims for breach of contract, bad faith refusal to settle, and unfair or deceptive trade practices.  The trial court granted Nationwide’s motion for partial summary judgment and ruled that Nationwide did not have coverage for the malicious prosecution verdict.


Nationwide then deposed Bourlon on the remaining counterclaims.  During the deposition, Bourlon’s counsel instructed Bourlon not to answer questions concerning his conversations with Patterson based on the attorney-client privilege.  The trial court ruled that: (1) there was no attorney-client relationship between Patterson and Nationwide; (2) there was an attorney-client relationship between Patterson and Bourlon; and (3) Patterson breached the attorney-client privilege with Bourlon by disclosing communications to Nationwide communications between Patterson and Bourlon.

The Court of Appeals held that the attorney-client relationship existed between Patterson and Nationwide.

. . . we conclude that a tripartite attorney-client relationship existed in the instant case whereby Patterson provided “joint” or “dual” representation to both plaintiff and defendant.  Accordingly, the trial court erred by determining that no attorney-client relationship existed between plaintiff and Patterson.  617 S.E.2d at 46.

The attorney-client relationship between Patterson and Bourlon depended upon advice Patterson may have given to Bourlon during the underlying trial concerning coverage and the counterclaims filed by Bourlon in the present case alleging bad faith.  First, in reference to any communications Bourlon and Patterson had that “relate to the defense for which the insurer has retained the attorney,” those communications are not privileged under the “common interest” or “joint client” doctrine.  617 S.E.2d at 47.  Communications, however, that do not relate to the defense of the underlying action are privileged.

Therefore, where, as here, an insurance company retains counsel for the benefit of its insured, those communications related to the representation and directed to the retained attorney by the insured are not privileged as between the insurer and the insured.  Nevertheless, we note that application of the common interest or joint client doctrine does not lead to the conclusion that all of the communications between defendant and Patterson were unprivileged.  Instead, the attorney-client privilege still attaches to those communications unrelated to the defense of the underlying action, as well as those communications regarding issues adverse between the insurer and the insured.  Specifically, “[c]ommunications that relate to the issue of coverage . . . are not discoverable . . . because the interests of the insurer and the insured with respect to the issue of coverage are always adverse.”  617 S.E.2d at 47.

Counsel for Bourlon was, therefore, correct in instructing Bourlon not to answer questions at his deposition concerning advice given by Patterson as to whether the malicious prosecution and punitive damage claims were covered under the Nationwide policy.  Nationwide, however, contended that even those communications were discoverable because of the counterclaims asserted by Bourlon.  The Court of Appeals agreed that the privilege between Patterson and Bourlon had been waived by Bourlon’s counterclaims.

. . . in light of defendant’s challenges to Patterson’s representation, we conclude that defendant has waived the privilege with respect to those communications unrelated to the underlying action and adverse to plaintiff. . . .  To the extent defendant contends that Patterson negligently defended him in the underlying action and negligently failed to resolve the claims, such allegations constitute a waiver of the attorney-client privilege.  617 S.E.2d at 47-48.

As to the trial court’s ruling that Patterson breached the attorney-client relationship by furnishing his file to Nationwide, the Court of Appeals affirmed because there may have been information in Patterson’s file unrelated to the defense of the underlying action.

. . . some communications in the file may have been privileged, including those communications unrelated to the underlying action or defendant’s counterclaims, those communications regarding coverage issues made prior to defendant’s counterclaims, and those communications unrelated to the conduct forming the basis of defendant’s counterclaims.  Therefore, we agree that Patterson’s file should not have been provided to plaintiff in a wholesale manner.  Instead, the file should have been submitted to the trial court for in camera review aimed at determining which documents in the file were privileged.  617 S.E.2d at 48.

H.
Commercial General Liability TC "H.
Commercial General Liability" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiff in Bond/Tec, Inc. v. Scottsdale Ins. Co., ___N.C.App.___, 622 S.E.2d 165 (2005), pet. disc. rev. denied, 360 N.C. 362, ___S.E.2d___ (2006) TA \l "Bond/Tec, Inc. v. Scottsdale Ins. Co., ___N.C.App.___, 622 S.E.2d 165 (2005), pet. disc. rev. denied, 360 N.C. 362, ___S.E.2d___ (2006)" \s "Bond/Tec, Inc. v. Scottsdale Ins. Co., ___N.C.App.___, 622 S.E.2d 165 (2005), pet. disc. rev. denied, 360 N.C. 362, ___S.E.2d___ (2006)" \c 1  entered into a contract with the Newton-Conover City Schools for the re-roofing of a high school.  The plaintiff was required to post a performance bond of $50,000 which was to be held in escrow until satisfactory completion of the work.  The school incurred damages in excess of $49,200 when temporary roofing done by the plaintiff failed and rain leaked into the building.  During discussions between the plaintiff and the school about repairs of the leaks, the plaintiff’s president, Bond, stated that “he would pay for the damage out of his own pocket.”  At the same time, the defendant sent a letter to the plaintiff denying coverage for the water damage.


The plaintiff’s present action was for breach of the general commercial liability policy with the defendant.  The trial court granted the defendant’s motion for summary judgment based on the defense that the plaintiff had paid a claim for which it was not responsible as a volunteer.  The policy provided:

No insured will, except at that insured’s own cost, voluntarily make a payment, assume any obligation, or incur any expense, other than for first aid, without our consent.  622 S.E.2d at 167.


The Court of Appeals reversed on two grounds.  First, the Court stated that there was a genuine dispute of material fact because the plaintiff argued that it did not agree to pay for repairs.  Second, the Court stated as a matter of first impression that the defendant was required to show prejudice before relying on the voluntary payments provision of the policy.

Thus, in North Carolina an insurer may not rely upon the breach of consent-to-settlement, notice, or cooperation provisions in order to relieve itself of liability to pay the claim; the insurer must demonstrate prejudice to its ability to investigate or defend the claim.  By analogy, we conclude an insurer must show prejudice where the insured has breached the voluntary payments clause or the parties’ insurance contract.  Defendant has not demonstrated that plaintiff’s actions prevented defendant from investigating or litigating the claim.  622 S.E.2d at 168.

III.
Practice and Procedure TC "III.
Practice and Procedure" \f C \l "1" 
A.
Jurisdiction TC "A.
Jurisdiction" \f C \l "2" 

Charter Medical, Ltd. v. Zigmed, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 617 S.E.2d 352 (2005) TA \l "Charter Medical, Ltd. v. Zigmed, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 617 S.E.2d 353 (2005)" \s "Charter Medical, Ltd. v. Zigmed, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 617 S.E.2d 353 (2005)" \c 1  arose out of the plaintiff’s purchase from the defendant of a blood bag manufacturing machine.  In response to the defendant’s motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction, the trial court found jurisdiction under the long-arm statute, G.S. § 1‑75.4(5)(e), but dismissed the action because the defendant did not have sufficient minimum contacts to meet due process.


The defendant sent a proposal for purchase and shipment of the machine to the plaintiff’s North Carolina office.  The plaintiff modified the proposal, but agreed to installation of the machine in New Jersey.  The parties later agreed that the defendant would ship the machine to the plaintiff’s facility in North Carolina.  Four technicians employed by the defendant installed the machine in North Carolina.


The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s dismissal of the action based on lack of personal jurisdiction.  On appeal from the trial court’s order determining personal jurisdiction, appellate review is limited to whether the trial court’s findings are supported by competent evidence in the record.  Because the defendant conceded that long-arm jurisdiction was established by the shipment of the machine into North Carolina, the Court focused on the issue of due process.  The Court noted that the “mere act of entering a contract with a forum resident does not provide the necessary contacts when all elements of the defendant’s performance are to occur outside the forum.”  617 S.E.2d at 355.

. . . there is no attempt by defendant to benefit from the laws of North Carolina by entering the market here.  Although part of plaintiff’s alleged damages arise from the incomplete installation by defendant – an action that occurred in North Carolina – plaintiff is claiming that the machine was defective when shipped, not upon installation.  Thus, the substantial portion of the cause of action covers actions performed completely in New Jersey.

   Here, plaintiff availed itself of the willingness of defendant to alter the shipping and installation point in a contract.  Defendant, a New Jersey company, did not purposely initiate any contact with North Carolina, but instead formed a contract in New Jersey for a product developed and manufactured in New Jersey, and designated to be shipped within New Jersey.  617 S.E.2d at 356.

The plaintiffs in Havey v. Valentine, ___N.C.App.___, 616 S.E.2d 642 (2005) TA \l "Havey v. Valentine, ___N.C.App.___, 616 S.E.2d 642 (2005)" \s "Havey v. Valentine, ___N.C.App.___, 616 S.E.2d 642 (2005)" \c 1  traveled to Vermont and purchased furniture from the third-party defendant, Stahler Furniture Company.  Stahler then contracted with Yellow Transportation, Inc. to transport the furniture from Vermont to the plaintiffs’ residence in North Carolina.  While the Yellow Transportation driver, Mark Valentine, was unloading the furniture at the plaintiffs’ residence, he pushed one of the furniture crates from the truck causing it to fall on Mr. Havey.  The Haveys filed suit against Valentine and Yellow Transportation.  The defendants filed a third-party claim against Stahler Furniture.  The trial court denied Stahler’s motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction.


The evidence on the motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction indicated that Stahler was not licensed or registered to do business in North Carolina.  Stahler had shipped one or two other pieces of furniture into North Carolina in the last ten years.  Stahler did not advertise in North Carolina.  Stahler did maintain a website providing general information about the company.  Purchases could not be made on the website.


The Court of Appeals reversed and held that since there was not specific jurisdiction over Stahler, the motion to dismiss should have been granted.  Maintaining the website was not a basis for the exercise of jurisdiction by a North Carolina court.

As the website in this case does not specifically target North Carolina residents, does not allow viewers to purchase furniture directly from the website, and merely provides information to the viewer, we conclude the website is passive and does not, by itself, provide a basis for the exercise of personal jurisdiction by North Carolina courts.  Similarly, because (1) all of the contract negotiations occurred outside of North Carolina, and (2) Stahler Furniture does not have any significant contacts with North Carolina, we conclude Stahler Furniture has not purposefully availed itself of the privilege of conducting activities in this state.  616 S.E.2d at 648.

The plaintiff in Banc of America Securities, LLC v. Evergreen International Aviation, Inc., 169 N.C.App. 690, 611 S.E.2d 179 (2005) TA \l "Banc of America v. Evergreen International Aviation, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 611 S.E.2d 179 (2005)" \s "Banc of America v. Evergreen International Aviation, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 611 S.E.2d 179 (2005)" \c 1  brought suit for breach of contract and quantum meruit.  The defendants moved to dismiss under Rule 12(c) for lack of personal jurisdiction.  The defendants also moved to stay under G.S. § 1-75.12(a) based on forum non conveniens and, as required by statute, stipulated to suit in Oregon, New York or Washington, D.C.  The defendants submitted an affidavit of Mr. Wahlberg, President of Evergreen, in support of the motion to dismiss.  The plaintiff responded with an affidavit of Mr. Brechnitz, Vice Present of the plaintiff.  The defendant then submitted a second affidavit by Mr. Wahlberg.


The affidavits established that the defendants were headquartered in Oregon with principal places of business in Oregon and Arizona.  The office of the plaintiff involved in the contracts in litigation was in North Carolina.  The plaintiff’s affidavits indicated that the defendants initiated contact with the plaintiff at its Charlotte, North Carolina office; that the defendants forwarded corporate documents to the plaintiff’s Charlotte office for review before the plaintiff accepted the engagement; and that the letter agreements were sent from the plaintiff’s Charlotte office.  The defendant’s affidavit contended that all of the work by the plaintiff under the contract would be done by employees of the plaintiff working at the defendant’s headquarters in Oregon or New York City.


The trial court denied the defendant’s motion to dismiss for lack of jurisdiction.  The Court of Appeals affirmed.  Addressing first the standard of appellate review for issues involving personal jurisdiction, the Court stated that review was limited to the question of “whether the findings of fact by the trial court are supported by competent evidence in the record; if so, this Court must affirm the order of the trial court.”  611 S.E.2d at 183.  The trial court is not required to make findings of fact.  If the trial court does not enter findings of fact, the Court of Appeals “must, therefore, presume that the trial judge made factual findings sufficient to support her ruling in favor of plaintiff.”  611 S.E.2d at 183.  Therefore, even though there was a conflict in the affidavits submitted by the parties to the trial court, “we must presume that the judge found plaintiff’s evidence more credible and gave it greater weight.”  611 S.E.2d at 185.

B.
Statutes and Periods of Limitation and Repose TC "B.
Statutes and Periods of Limitation and Repose" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiff in Whittaker v. Todd, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 860 (2006) TA \l "Whittaker v. Todd, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 860 (2006)" \s "Whittaker v. Todd, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 860 (2006)" \c 1  contracted with the defendant in 1991 to replace the porch roof on the plaintiff’s house.  The defendant’s written contract guaranteed the work “for as long as you own home.”  625 S.E.2d at 861. In 2003, the plaintiff noticed that a corner of the roof had not been sealed and had caused water to rot a part of the roof.  Suit was filed in small claims court on 11 November 2003.  The defendant appealed to the district court.  The district court granted the defendant’s motion to dismiss based on the six-year period of repose in G.S. § 1-50(a)(5).


The Court of Appeals affirmed.  The plaintiff argued that the statute of repose did not apply because of the express warranty provided by the defendant guaranteeing workmanship for as long as the plaintiff owned the home.  Since the plaintiff’s claim was for “money owed,” and not for breach of warranty, G.S. § 1-50(a)(5) barred the action.  Even though the defendant did not plead the statute of repose as an affirmative defense, compliance with the period of repose was “a condition precedent to a party’s right to maintain a lawsuit,” therefore, the plaintiff was required to plead and prove that the six-year period of repose was not a bar to the action.  625 S.E.2d at 862.

The plaintiff in Jack H. Winslow Farms, Inc. v. Dedmon, 171 N.C.App. 754, 615 S.E.2d 41, pet. disc. rev. denied, 360 N.C. 64, 621 S.E.2d 625 (2005) TA \l "Jack H. Winslow Farms, Inc. v. Dedmon, ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 41, pet. disc. rev. denied, ___N.C.___, 621 S.E.2d 625 (2005)" \s "Jack H. Winslow Farms, Inc. v. Dedmon, ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 41, petition for discretionary review denied, ___N.C.___, 621 S.E.2d 625 (2005)" \c 1  purchased a silo from the defendants in 1976.  The plaintiff stored high moisture corn in the silo to feed his hogs.  The plaintiff purchased two additional silos in 1977.  In 1997, one of the silos collapsed and fell onto another silo.  The defendants refused to repair or replace the silos.  Suit was filed in 1998.  The trial court granted the defendants’ motions for summary judgment based upon the six-year statute of limitations in G.S. § 1‑50(a)(6).  


On appeal, the plaintiff argued that the six-year statute of repose did not apply because the complaint alleged fraud.  The Court of Appeals disagreed and affirmed the trial court’s dismissal of the action.  Noting that fraud is specifically stated as an exception to the statute of repose for real property claims, the Court held that allegations of fraud did not extend the products liability period of repose.

Fraud is specifically noted as an exception to assertion of the statute in real property cases.  N.C.Gen.Stat. § 1-50(a)(5)e. (2003), whereas there are no exceptions noted in regards to products liability.

   Accordingly, plaintiff’s action for fraud is controlled by N.C.Gen.Stat. § 1-50(a)(6).  Plaintiff’s claim for fraud arises from the alleged failure of a manufactured silo to perform as advertised or indicated by the silo’s promotional literature.  The silos were purchased in 1976 and 1977.  Absent evidence of extended warranties, contracts, or otherwise upon which to base an action, plaintiff had six years from the date of purchase to bring claims against the manufacturer for defects or failures arising from the product.  615 S.E.2d at 45.

Carlisle v. Keith, 169 N.C.App. 674, 614 S.E.2d 542 (2005) TA \l "Carlisle v. Keith, ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 542 (2005)" \s "Carlisle v. Keith, ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 542 (2005)" \c 1  was an action alleging breach of fiduciary duty, fraud and misrepresentations arising from multiple real estate transactions.  Generally, the complaint alleged that Fletcher Keith and the plaintiff were partners in the purchase and development of several commercial properties.  The complaint also alleged that Keith and his attorney, Deane Brunson, concealed Keith’s ownership in companies that purchased the properties as well as valuations of the properties.  The trial court granted Brunson’s motion to dismiss and certified the appeal under Rule 54(b).


The Court of Appeals affirmed.  Addressing each claim separately, the Court of Appeals agreed with the trial court that the applicable statute of limitations barred all claims against Brunson.  The claim alleging breach of fiduciary duty “is a species of negligence or professional malpractice.”  614 S.E.2d at 548.  Since the complaint alleged that the “last act” giving rise to the damages sustained by the plaintiff occurred in February 1997, and the complaint was not filed until 22 April 2003, the claim was barred by N.C.G.S. § 1-15(c), regardless of whether the period of limitations was three or four years.


Similar reasoning applied to the claim for fraud.  The plaintiff received actual notice of Keith’s ownership in the properties in February 1998.  The subsequent lawsuit filed on 22 April 2003 against Brunson was barred by the three-year limitation period in G.S. § 1-52(9).  The plaintiff argued that the existence of the attorney-client relationship between the plaintiff and Brunson extended the time within which he had to institute suit.  The Court of Appeals held that the continuing representation of Brunson for more than a year after Brunson’s “last act” giving rise to the action did not extend the statute of limitations.  The operative facts were Brunson’s last act giving rise to the claim and when the plaintiff discovered the fraud.  Brunson’s continuing representation of the plaintiff had no effect on the running of the statute of limitations.


The plaintiff also contended that the trial court erred in considering Brunson’s defenses based on the statute of limitations when this defense was not affirmatively pled.  Brunson’s motion to dismiss referred to Rule 12(b)(6).  Brunson’s attorney served his brief setting forth his statute of limitations arguments two days before the hearing on the motion to dismiss.  On the same day, the plaintiff served a twenty-six page memorandum in which the defendant’s statute of limitations defense was briefed.  The Court of Appeals held that the plaintiff’s “briefing and arguing” the statute of limitations defense and failing to object at the hearing “waived that objection.”  614 S.E.2d at 551.


C.
Res Judicata and Collateral Estoppel TC "C.
Res Judicata and Collateral Estoppel" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiff in Harvey v. McLaughlin, ___N.C.App.___, 616 S.E.2d 660, petition for writ of certiorari denied, 360 N.C. 175, 625 S.E.2d 114(2005), TA \l "Harvey v. McLaughlin, ___N.C.App.___, 616 S.E.2d 660 (2005)" \s "Harvey v. McLaughlin, ___N.C.App.___, 616 S.E.2d 660 (2005)" \c 1  settled his workers’ compensation claim with his employer by a final compromise agreement.  The agreement stated that the plaintiff was injured on 9 June 1997.  The agreement recited the plaintiff’s medical treatment including chiropractic manipulation by the defendant, Dr. McLaughlin.


After the workers’ compensation settlement was approved by the Industrial Commission, the plaintiff filed the present action for malpractice against Dr. McLaughlin.  In part, the complaint alleged that the plaintiff was in good health and able to engage in construction activities prior to 11 June 1997.  The trial court granted the defendant’s motion to dismiss based on lack of subject matter jurisdiction and judicial estoppel.  Related to the defense of judicial estoppel, the trial court noted the allegations in the present suit that the plaintiff was pain free prior to 11 June 1997, whereas the workers’ compensation settlement was based on an injury on 9 June 1997.  The present complaint also alleged that the plaintiff had never experienced neck or cervical pain before 11 June 1997, but discovery materials established upper neck pain prior to 11 June 1997.


The Court of Appeals reversed.  In Whiteacre P’ship v. Biosignia, Inc., 358 N.C. 1, 591 S.E.2d 870 (2004) TA \l "Whiteacre P’ship v. Biosignia, Inc., 358 N.C. 1, 591 S.E.2d 870 (2004)" \s "Whiteacre P’ship v. Biosignia, Inc., 358 N.C. 1, 591 S.E.2d 870 (2004)" \c 1 , the Supreme Court discussed the three tests for judicial estoppel.  The Court found that the positions taken by the plaintiff before the Industrial Commission and in the present suit were not “clearly inconsistent.”

With respect to the first enumerated inconsistency, the trial court noted plaintiff had differing assertions regarding the date of the onset of pain in his complaint as compared with the date of disability in his Form 21 Agreement.  However, as noted previously, plaintiff’s complaint was candid about his condition.  While the complaint initially stated that, prior to 11 June 1997, plaintiff was “in good health and pain free” and active in both his work and recreational activities, the very next sentence provides that a “few days before June 11, 1997, the plaintiff pulled his upper back.” . . . The complaint, read as a whole, is entirely consistent with the onset of pain prior to 11 June 1997 and that, in fact, plaintiff suffered a back injury on 9 June and developed increasing pain that interfered with his recreational activities and prompted him to seek chiropractic intervention.  616 S.E.2d at 663.

The second test – persuading a court to accept the “earlier, inconsistent position” – and the third test – gaining an “unfair advantage” because of the inconsistent position – were not met based on the same factual analysis concerning the consistency in allegations about the onset of back pain.

The plaintiff in Nicholson v. Jackson County School Bd., 170 N.C.App. 650, 614 S.E.2d 319 (2005) TA \l "Nicholson v. Jackson County School Bd., ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 319 (2005)" \s "Nicholson v. Jackson County School Bd., ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 319 (2005)" \c 1  alleged that he was wrongfully terminated from his position as a principal and denied a hearing as required by statute.  The plaintiff was notified of his initial suspension on 24 June 2003.  After an investigation, the plaintiff was informed of the recommendation that his employment be terminated unless a hearing was requested within fourteen days.  The plaintiff requested a hearing, but the request was beyond the fourteen-day period.  On 22 December 2003, the trial court denied the plaintiff’s motion to remand the case for a hearing before the Board of Education.  The plaintiff did not appeal this order.  The present suit was filed in District Court and alleged breach of contract, wrongful termination and failure to follow proper procedures in the termination.


Because the relief requested was in excess of ten thousand dollars, the defendant moved to transfer the case to Superior Court.  At the time the defendant filed the motion to transfer to Superior Court, the defendant also filed a motion to dismiss based on res judicata and collateral estoppel.  In support of the motion to dismiss, the defendant attached the previous Superior Court order of 22 December 2003 denying the plaintiff’s motion for a hearing.  The defendant gave notice of hearing on the motion to dismiss at the same session of court at which the motion to transfer was heard.  The trial court granted the motion to transfer to Superior Court, then heard and granted the defendant’s motion to dismiss.


The Court of Appeals affirmed.  The Court first held that the trial court properly heard the motion to dismiss because it had been noticed by the defendant.

Moreover, plaintiff had notice of the hearing on the motion to dismiss more than two weeks before the actual hearing, attended and participated in the hearing, and made no objection to the hearing.  “A party waives notice of a motion by attending the hearing of the motion and by participating in the hearing without objecting to the improper notice or requesting a continuance for additional time to produce evidence.”  614 S.E.2d at 322.


The plaintiff argued next that the previous trial court order of 22 December 2003 was not a “judgment on the merits,” and, for this reason, was not a proper basis for dismissal on the grounds of either res judicata or collateral estoppel.  Concluding that the order of 22 December 2003 concerned the same issues pending in the present suit, the Court of Appeals agreed that the present suit was barred.

The 22 December 2003 order of the trial court, however, addressed these very issues and concluded plaintiff was not entitled to a hearing because he failed to timely request such hearing.  Plaintiff was entitled to appeal the 22 December 2003 order, but did not do so. . . .  Regardless of the procedural manner in which the issue reached the trial court, it is clear from the 22 December 2003 order that the focus of the court’s review of the Board’s termination of plaintiff was his claim that he was denied a proper hearing. . . .  Plaintiff’s present suit is a breach of contract based upon his contention that he was denied a proper hearing.  The doctrines of res judicata and collateral estoppel bar an action, and the trial court did not err in dismissing it.  614 S.E.2d at 322-323.

D.
Pro Hac Vice Admission TC "D.
Pro Hac Vice Admission" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiff in In re Cole, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 155 (2006) TA \l "In re Cole, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 155 (2006)" \s "In re Cole, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 155 (2006)" \c 1  retained Jones to represent them in relation to the foreclosure of their house in Elizabeth City.  Jones was licensed to practice in Virginia.  Jones appeared before the Clerk and requested a continuance of the hearing because he had not been able to associate North Carolina counsel.  The continuance was granted.  Jones then filed a complaint contesting the foreclosure and a motion to be admitted pro hac vice.  A hearing on these motions was continued.  Jones then filed a motion for a preliminary injunction and moved at the foreclosure hearing that all motions be heard on 8 March 2004.  The Clerk denied the motion to continue and ordered foreclosure after a hearing.  Jones filed an appeal from the order of foreclosure.  Jones then filed a second action on behalf of the Coles.  

The defendants noticed the depositions of the plaintiffs.  When Jones requested that the depositions be continued, the defendants indicated that the health of their clients required that the depositions be held as scheduled.  The plaintiffs did not appear at their depositions.  The defendants filed a motion for sanctions related to the plaintiffs’ depositions and a motion to dismiss.  The individual plaintiffs then filed a pro se complaint against the defendants.  The trial court denied Jones’ motion for admission.  The trial court also denied the plaintiffs’ motion for a continuance of the hearing.  After the plaintiffs took a voluntary dismissal without prejudice, the trial court fined Jones $5,000 for unauthorized practice of law.  The trial judge also ordered the plaintiffs and Jones to pay the defendants’ attorneys’ fees and costs.

The Court of Appeals affirmed.  As to the denial of Jones’ motion to be admitted pro hac vice, the Court of Appeals found no abuse of discretion by the trial judge.

. . . the trial court noted that Jones had filed two motions for admission to practice pro hac vice in the various actions involved in the suit, and that North Carolina attorneys had signed statements of intent in connection with both motions.  However, the trial court further found that the North Carolina attorneys had not signed other papers filed with the court regarding the related matters, and that Jones had been participating in the unauthorized practice of law “from the outset of his representation of the plaintiffs.”  The trial court then, in its discretion, denied Jones’s motion for admission to practice.  As the trial court clearly set out reasons for its denial of Jones’s motion, we find no abuse of discretion.  625 S.E.2d at 158.


The plaintiffs also argued that the trial judge erred in imposing sanctions for their failure to attend the noticed depositions.  The plaintiffs contended that sanctions could not be imposed because the defendants did not obtain an order compelling discovery under Rule 37(d).  The Court of Appeals disagreed.

Here, plaintiffs do not contest that they failed to appear for the scheduled depositions, which were properly noticed twelve days before the scheduled depositions.  We note that the record contains no evidence that the plaintiffs moved for a protective order.  As an order directing compliance with discovery is not a prerequisite to sanctions under Rule 37(d), we find no abuse of discretion in the trial court’s imposition of sanctions for plaintiffs’ failure to appear for scheduled depositions.  625 S.E.2d at 160.

E.
Service TC "E.
Service" \f C \l "2" 

Stack v. Union Regional Memorial Medical Center, 171 N.C.App. 322, 614 S.E.2d 378 (2005), petition for writ of cert. denied, 360 N.C. 66, 621 S.E.2d 877 (2006)  was an action alleging medical malpractice.  Suit was filed initially against Union Regional, but voluntarily dismissed without prejudice on 23 May 2002.  The present suit was filed on 20 May 2003 against Union Regional and Carolinas Healthcare Foundation.  Summons was issued on 20 May 2003 for service on the registered agent for Carolinas Healthcare.  No summons was issued or served on Union Regional.


Carolinas Healthcare filed a motion for summary judgment on 26 September 2003 contending that it had no relationship with Union Regional and did not engage in the delivery of healthcare services.  On 14 October 2003, the plaintiff then issued a summons for Union Regional and served the summons and complaint on Union Regional by registered mail.  The trial court granted the motions for summary judgment as to both Carolinas Healthcare and Union Regional.


The plaintiff appealed only the dismissal as to Union Regional.  The plaintiff argued that the summons issued on 14 October 2003 was a valid alias and pluries summons that related back to the time suit was instituted.  The Court of Appeals disagreed and held that since summons was never issued as to Union Regional, the summons on 14 October 2003 was not a valid alias and pluries summons and did not relate back.  The plaintiff then contended that the summons as to Carolinas Healthcare designated the incorrect agent and not the incorrect party.  The plaintiff was, therefore, entitled to the benefit of the summons issued to Carolinas Healthcare.  Again, the Court of Appeals disagreed.

Plaintiff did not attempt service on Union Regional through the wrong registered agent.  Rather, plaintiff never attempted service on Union Regional until almost five months after service was due.  The original summons in this case named an entirely different corporation, not just a different agent.  Therefore, the summons did not comply with the Rule 5(b) requirement that a summons “be directed to the defendant.”  614 S.E.2d at 381.


Suit in Saliby v. Conners, 171 N.C.App. 435, 614 S.E.2d 416 (2005) TA \l "Saliby v. Conners, ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 416 (2005)" \s "Saliby v. Conners, ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 416 (2005)" \c 1  was filed to recover for injuries received in an automobile accident.  A Wake County Deputy Sheriff served the summons and complaint on the defendant’s father at the defendant’s residence in Raleigh.  The father accepted the summons and faxed it to the defendant in Texas.  

The defendant filed a motion to dismiss for insufficient process and insufficient service.  The Wake County Deputy Sheriff testified at the hearing that he asked the father if the defendant lived at the residence.  The Deputy further testified that the father told the deputy that the defendant did live there.  The father testified that he told the Deputy that the defendant had moved from the residence to accept a new job in Texas.  The trial court granted the defendant’s motion to dismiss.


Concluding that the defendant had failed to  rebut the presumption of valid service by the Deputy Sheriff’s return, the Court of Appeals reversed.

Deputy Williamson’s return of the summons indicates legal service under Rule 4(j)(1)(a), which results in a presumption of valid service of process. . . .  more than a single contradictory affidavit is required to show improper service. . . .  In the case before us, defendant’s argument that his unverified answer supplemented Mr. Conner’s affidavit as evidence of insufficient process is without merit.  614 S.E.2d at 417-418.

The plaintiff in Carpenter v. Agee, 171 N.C.App. 98, 613 S.E.2d 735 (2005) TA \l "Carpenter v. Agee, ___N.C.App.___, 613 S.E.2d 735 (2005)" \s "Carpenter v. Agee, ___N.C.App.___, 613 S.E.2d 735 (2005)" \c 1  alleged that he was injured in an automobile accident caused by the negligence of the defendant.  The summons and complaint were addressed to the defendant by certified mail, return receipt requested, at an address in San Bernadino, California.  The return receipt was signed by the defendant’s mother, Dixie Agee, at the same address on 12 March 2003.  The plaintiff filed an affidavit of service by certified mail and a copy of the signed return receipt.  The defendant filed a motion to dismiss on the basis that he had not been properly served.  The defendant’s affidavit stated that he had not resided at the address to which the summons and complaint had been mailed since 2002.  The trial court granted the defendant’s motion to dismiss.


Holding that the defendant’s affidavit did not rebut the presumption of service arising from the plaintiff’s affidavit of service, the Court of Appeals reversed.

By filing a copy of the signed return receipt, along with an affidavit that comports with N.C.Gen.Stat. § 1-75.10, the plaintiff is entitled to a rebuttable presumption of valid service.  We find that defendant’s single affidavit does not rebut the presumption in this case.  In his affidavit, defendant merely asserts that he had not resided at the address to which service was addressed since 2002.  However, defendant does not state or otherwise present any evidence that Dixie Agee, who signed for the civil summons and complaint, was not authorized to accept service for him.  In the absence of such evidence, defendant has failed to rebut the statutory presumption of valid service.  We therefore conclude that the Rule 4 requirements of service of process were met, and we reverse the trial court’s order granting defendant’s motion to dismiss.  613 S.E.2d at 736.

F.
Rule 9(b) - Alleging Fraud TC "F.
Rule 9(b) - Alleging Fraud" \f C \l "2" 

The defendant in Bob Timberlake Collection, Inc. v. Edwards, ___N.C.App.___, 626 S.E.2d 315 (2006) TA \l "Bob Timberlake Collection, Inc. v. Edwards, ___N.C.App.___, 626 S.E.2d 315 (2006)" \s "Bob Timberlake Collection, Inc. v. Edwards, ___N.C.App.___, 626 S.E.2d 315 (2006)" \c 1  entered into a contract to purchase stock in Riverwood, Inc. from Timberlake for $800,000 in three equal installments.  After making the first payment of $250,000, Edwards claimed that Timberlake made inaccurate statements about Riverwood before the contract was signed.  Timberlake sued for breach of the contract.  Edwards counterclaimed for fraud, unfair and deceptive trade practices and breach of contract.  The trial court dismissed Edwards’ counterclaims and denied Edwards’ oral motion to amend the counterclaims.


The Court of Appeals affirmed dismissal of the counterclaims.  As to the claim alleging fraud, the Court held that the claim had not been pleaded with the particularity required by Rule 9(b).

Here, defendant, pleaded fraud in vague and general terms, alleging that representatives of BTI gave him information concerning Riverwood.  However, defendant did not identify which representatives gave him false information, nor did he specifically allege where or when he received the information.  Defendant failed to sufficiently plead the substantive elements of fraud with the required particularity.  626 S.E.2d at 321.


Similarly reasoning applying to the deficiencies in pleading negligent misrepresentation.

In his counterclaim for negligent misrepresentation, Edwards pleads a legal conclusion that “such misrepresentations were made negligently,” that “Timberlake, Inc. had a financial interest in such misrepresentations,” that “Edwards relied upon Timberlake, Inc.’s negligent misrepresentations,” that “such reliance was reasonable,” and that “Edwards has been damaged by Timberlake’s negligent misrepresentations in an amount to be established at trial.”  However, Edwards failed to allege BTI or any of its “representatives” owed any duty to Edwards or breached any duty owed.  Further, there was no allegation that the information provided was prepared without reasonable care, or that any supposed breach was a proximate cause of the injury.  626 S.E.2d at 322.

As to the claim alleging unfair and deceptive trade practices, Edwards alleged that the conduct of BTI “constitutes unfair and deceptive trade practices” and “such conduct was in and effected [sic] commerce.”  Edwards did not allege the specific conduct that constituted unfair and deceptive trade practices.  In addition to this factual deficiency, Edwards also did not allege that the conduct of BTI was “immoral, oppressive, unscrupulous or substantially injurious to consumers” or that the breach of contract was accompanied by “substantial aggravating circumstances.”  626 S.E.2d at 323.

G.
Rule 11 – Sanctions TC "G.
Rule 11 – Sanctions" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiff in Hill v. Hill, ___N.C.App.___, 622 S.E.2d 503 (2005) TA \l "Hill v. Hill, ___N.C.App.___, 622 S.E.2d 503 (2005)" \s "Hill v. Hill, ___N.C.App.___, 622 S.E.2d 503 (2005)" \c 1  brought suit against the administratrix of his mother’s estate alleging fraud and undue influence relating to the mother’s conveyance of stock in the family business to two of her children making them sole shareholders in the business.  The trial court granted the defendants’ motion for summary judgment, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.  On remand, the trial court entered sanctions pursuant to Rule 11 and G.S. § 6-21.5 totaling $116,276.69.


On the initial issue of the entry of sanctions, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s finding that the plaintiff violated the factual certification requirement of Rule 11.

An attorney representing the estate made an independent investigation of plaintiff’s claims and “concluded that there was insufficient evidence to establish a factual basis to prove any claims of fraud or undue influence upon Sadie Hill.” If plaintiff had similarly inquired into the facts, he would have found ample evidence showing Sadie Hill to have been competent and fully involved in managing her business and personal affairs throughout the 1980’s and until her death in 1997.  Most significantly, the evidence shows that Sadie Hill retained both independent legal and tax counsel for the purpose of drafting and reviewing the 1987 contract.  622 S.E.2d at 507.


It was error for the trial court to award sanctions under Rule 11 and G.S. § 6-21.5 for the previous appeal.

The authority to sanction frivolous appeals by shifting “expenses incurred on appeal . . . onto appellants” is exclusively granted to the appellate courts under N.C.R.App.P. 34. . . .  Accordingly, attorney’s fees and costs incurred in defending an appeal may only be awarded under N.C.App.R. 34 by an appellate court.  622 S.E.2d at 509.

The plaintiff next argued that sanctions for conduct during discovery could not be awarded under Rule 11.  The Court of Appeals disagreed and held that attorney’s fees and costs during discovery as a result of the plaintiff’s complaint “are a proper basis for an award . . . under Rule 11.”  622 S.E.2d at 510.  Continuing to disagree with the award of sanctions based on fees and expenses during discovery, the plaintiff contended that the trial court erred by “retroactively levying” sanctions for discovery conduct when the trial court should have imposed the sanctions at the time they occurred.  Again, the Court of Appeals disagreed, stating that the plaintiff’s violation of Rule 11 was not determined until the hearing on the motion for summary judgment.

Melton v. Tindall Corp., ___N.C.App.___, 618 S.E.2d 819, (2005), pet. disc. rev. denied, 360 N.C. 290, 628 S.E.2d 382 (2006) TA \l "Melton v. Tindall Corp., ___N.C.App.___, ___S.E.2d ___ (2005)" \s "Melton v. Tindall Corp., ___N.C.App.___, ___S.E.2d ___ (2005)" \c 1  and Baker v. Speedway Motorsports, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 618 S.E.2d 796 (2005) TA \l "Baker v. Speedway Motorsports, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, ___S.E.2d ___ (2005)" \s "Bryan v. Speedway Motorsports, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, ___S.E.2d ___ (2005)" \c 1  were 2.1 cases consolidated as In re: Pedestrian Walkway Failure.  The cases arose from the 20 May 2000 collapse of a pedestrian walkway at the Lowe’s Motor Speedway.  As a result of the collapse, approximately 100 suits were filed against the Speedway and Tindall who had constructed the collapsed walkway.  In 2003, the first pedestrian case was tried.  The jury found that the Speedway and Tindall were liable.  The trial judge ruled that the issue of liability had been established by collateral estoppel.  Therefore, as to the remaining plaintiffs, the only issue for trial was damages.


In the Melton case, Melton’s claim for lost profits and diminution in future earning capacity was based on his allegation that he was self-employed as a general contractor.  Melton had built one house, making the profits from the house important to his claim for damages.  The defendants requested production of Melton’s federal and state tax returns for the year involved with construction of the house, 2001.  Although Melton testified by deposition that he made a profit of $18,000 on the sale of the house he built, he did not produce tax returns for this year.


The defendants’ motion to compel production of the 2001 tax return was granted by the trial court.  Melton still did not produce the return.  The trial court then granted the defendants’ motion to redepose Melton, and, also ordered Melton to produce all documents relating to the construction and sale of the house.  Just before his deposition, Melton produced a 2001 federal income tax return, dated 16 October 2003, however, there was no information in the return about the house.  When Melton was asked at his deposition whether he had intentionally withheld information about the profits from the house from the IRS, he invoked his Fifth Amendment right against self-incrimination.  Upon additional motion by the defendants, the trial court dismissed all claims pursuant to Rule 37 and 41.


Noting that a trial judge’s imposition of sanctions under Rule 37 is reviewed on appeal for abuse of discretion, the Court of Appeals affirmed.

. . . by failing to timely produce a copy of his 2001 income tax return that stated profits from the sale of the house, Melton did, in fact, deny Tindall at least some discovery with respect to his profits from the sale. . . .  Judge Spainhour was not precluded from finding that there were false representations to the court and opposing counsel concerning when Melton had filed his 2001 federal income tax return. . . .  it is undisputed that the 8 October 2003 version of Melton’s 2001 federal tax return did not report a profit from the sale of a house and that Melton’s deposition testimony indicated that he did profit from the sale of a house. . . . the evidence before Judge Spainhour easily permitted him to conclude that Melton had engaged in a pattern of misconduct to thwart discovery.  618 S.E.2d at 826-27.

The Court also affirmed the trial judge’s basis for sanctions related to Melton’s invoking his Fifth Amendment privilege.

This Court has held that a civil plaintiff who invokes the Fifth Amendment to thwart discovery subjects his claim to dismissal. . . . Melton’s decision to assert the Fifth Amendment, rather than answer a question concerning why he did not tell the IRS about the profits, served to impede Tindall’s ability to obtain accurate discovery about the nature of the profits from the sale of the house.  Judge Spainhour’s order is replete with references to the importance of this information, and it properly indicates that the value of asserting the Fifth Amendment was minimal in light of the conduct Melton has already disclosed.  618 S.E.2d at 828.


Similar discovery issues were also present in the Baker case.  Tindall submitted requests to admit to the plaintiff seeking to establish the presence of drugs in the decedent at the time of an autopsy.  The plaintiff responded that she was not educated nor qualified to interpret the medical examiner’s findings and, therefore, could not admit the requests.  In addressing Tindall’s motion for sanctions, the trial judge determined that the plaintiff either had no expert witness or that she failed to make reasonable inquiry.  The trial judge, therefore, ordered that the plaintiff was prohibited from contradicting the findings of the presence of drugs from the autopsy.


Although the trial judge entered a scheduling order providing for the identification of experts, the plaintiff’s identification of Dr. Bederka as an expert witness did not occur until after the time specified in the scheduling order.  The trial judge prohibited the plaintiff from calling Dr. Bederka as a witness at trial.


The plaintiff was also requested to produce the names of health care providers who had examined or treated the plaintiff within ten years of the accident.  Based on the failure to produce records concerning previous treatment for medical treatment relating to the back, the trial judge precluded the plaintiff from introducing evidence that her back injury was caused by the pedestrian walkway collapse.


The Court of Appeals affirmed all rulings by the trial court.

. . . the record is replete with information which reveals the importance of the deadlines in each of the pedestrian walkway cases and with admonitions by Judge Spainhour that the parties should strictly and completely comply with rules and orders governing discovery.  On the facts of this case, we are unpersuaded that Judge Spainhour was compelled to find that there was good cause to permit Dr. Bederka to testify, and we discern no abuse of discretion in the decision to exclude Dr. Bederka’s testimony.  618 S.E.2d at 804.


The Court also approved Judge Spainhour’s order concerning admission of the findings of drugs from the autopsy report.

Therefore, Judge Spainhour could permissibly find that Mrs. Hepler either did not make reasonable inquiry of her expert or that, if she had made such inquiry, she was not in a position to contradict the information contained the in RFAs and should have admitted them.  618 S.E.2d at 805.

H.
Rule 13(a) – Compulsory Counterclaims TC "H.
Rule 13(a) – Compulsory Counterclaims" \f C \l "2" 

The parties in Jonesboro United Methodist Church v. Mullins-Sherman Architects, LLP, 359 N.C. 593, 614 S.E.2d 268 (2005) TA \l "Jonesboro United Methodist Church v. Mullins-Sherman, ___N.C.___, 614 S.E.2d 268 (2005)" \s "Jonesboro United Methodist Church v. Mullins-Sherman, ___N.C.___, 614 S.E.2d 268 (2005)" \c 1  entered into a contract for J.H. Batten, Inc. to construct a Fellowship Hall addition for the plaintiff.  Concerns arose throughout the construction about the quality of work by Batten.  Representatives of the Church sent Batten a letter agreeing to pay Batten $101,000 “to satisfy the construction relationship” between the Church and Batten.  Batten signed the letter and wrote at the bottom of the returned letter, “I agree that this is a complete settlement between [Batten] and [JUMC].”  Within a week, the Church sent Batten another letter disagreeing on the amount owed and “rescinding” the earlier letter.


When the Church did not pay, Batten filed suit in Forsyth County seeking $101,000 in damages.  The Church’s answer denied that any amounts were owed.  The Church did not file a counterclaim.  The trial court granted Batten’s motion for summary judgment.  The trial court’s order was affirmed by the Court of Appeals.  The Supreme Court denied discretionary review.


The present suit was filed in Lee County for breach of contract.  Batten filed a motion for judgment on the pleadings contending that the Lee County claims were compulsory counterclaims in the earlier Forsyth County action.  The trial court denied Batten’s motion, and the Court of Appeals affirmed.  The Supreme Court granted discretionary review and reversed the Court of Appeals.


Comparing the claims filed in both trial courts, the Supreme Court noted that both suits involved allegations as to whether Batten had performed the construction in a satisfactory manner.  The Lee County complaint alleged that the Church’s workmanship complaints occurred as early as eight months before the Forsyth County action was filed.  Accordingly, the Church’s claim were “mature” at the time the Forsyth County action was filed by Batten and could have been alleged as counterclaims in Forsyth County.


Observing that North Carolina’s compulsory counterclaim rule is identical to the federal rule, the Court relied upon both state and federal decisions as a basis for analyzing whether the two suits arose “out of the same transaction or occurrence.”

(1) whether the issues of fact and law raised by the claim and counterclaim are largely the same; (2) whether substantially the same evidence bears on both claims; and (3) whether any logical relationship exists between the two claims.  614 S.E.2d at 272.

The Supreme Court held that all factors were present.  Therefore, since the Lee County claims by the Church were compulsory counterclaims in the earlier Forsyth County action by Batten, the Lee County action should have been dismissed.

In conclusion, the construction contract and the parties’ performance under that contract constitute a single “transaction or occurrence” that formed the factual basis for the parties’ respective claims for relief in both the Forsyth County and Lee County actions.  Although Batten’s claims in the Forsyth County litigation and JUMC’s claims in the Lee County litigation are not identical, “the issues of law and fact are . . . largely the same in both actions, . . . require substantially the same evidence for their determination, and . . . are logically related.”  614 S.E.2d at 273-274.

I.
Discovery TC "I.
Discovery" \f C \l "2" 

Miller v. Forsyth Memorial Hosp., Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 115 (2005) TA \l "Miller v. Forsyth Memorial Hosp., Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 115 (2005)" \s "Miller v. Forsyth Memorial Hosp., Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 115 (2005)" \c 1  was an action alleging medical malpractice.  The jury returned a verdict in favor of the defendants.  Among other issues on appeal, the plaintiff contended that the trial court erred in denying the plaintiff’s motion to compel discovery.  In response to the plaintiff’s motion to compel discovery, the defendants produced a privilege log identifying documents the defendants asserted were protected by the peer review privilege.


In affirming the trial court’s denial of the plaintiff’s motion to compel discovery, the Court of Appeals noted that there was no information in the record concerning the contents of the documents or how the documents would benefit the plaintiff’s case.  The Court compared the deficiency with an offer of proof at trial.  When evidence is excluded at trial, the party offering the evidence must make a sufficient offer of proof as to the excluded evidence to allow the appellate court to determine the importance of the evidence.

First, . . . plaintiffs made no attempt at the trial of this case to introduce any evidence regarding defendants’ peer review process or the internal investigation that occurred following the injection. . . .  Second, plaintiffs could have requested that the trial court review the documents in camera and then seal the documents for possible appellate review.  In camera review allows the trial court to direct that the requested information be produced under seal for determination by it of relevancy or potential for leading to discovery of admissible evidence.  625 S.E.2d at 116-117.

Armstrong v. Barnes, 171 N.C.App. 287, 614 S.E.2d 371, petition for writ of supersedeas denied, 359 N.C. 850, 618 S.E.2d 238 (2005) TA \l "Armstrong v. Barnes, ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 371, petition for writ of supersedeas denied, 359 N.C. 850, 618 S.E.2d 238 (2005)" \s "Armstrong v. Barnes, ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 371, petition for writ of supersedeas denied, 359 N.C. 850, 618 S.E.2d 238 (2005)" \c 1  was an action alleging medical malpractice arising from the defendant’s delivery of the plaintiffs’ child in February 2000.  During the deposition of the defendant, his counsel objected and instructed him not to answer questions concerning the defendant’s history of drug abuse.  The defendant then moved for a protective order as to the questions asked at the deposition.  The trial court ordered the defendant to respond to questions concerned his drug abuse.  The defendant relapsed in 1993 and 1994.  As part of the defendant’s effort to obtain credentialing at the local hospital, he was required to testify and submit to drug abuse monitoring.  The defendant relapsed again in April 2000.


Although the discovery order was interlocutory, the Court of Appeals held that when a party asserts a statutory privilege, the order affects a substantial right and is appealable.  The defendant’s drug abuse began during his residency in 1988.  He received treatment through the North Carolina Physicians Health Program (“PHP”).


N.C.Gen.Stat. § 90-21.22 provides for establishing peer review agreements for programs such as PHP.  The Court of Appeals held that the trial court should have granted the defendant’s motion for a protective order as to matters privileged under the statute.  As a second privilege against discovery, the defendant contended that matters revealed at the hospital credentialing were also protected.  The Court of Appeals disagreed since the defendant had independent knowledge of his drug abuse separate from his testimony at the credentialing hearing.

Therefore, Dr. Barnes, as an original source, may not invoke N.C. Gen.Stat. § 131E-95(b) to shield himself from answering deposition questions regarding the details of his drug abuse, merely because he disclosed those details during the credentialing committee proceedings and those details were presumably included in the committee’s records. . . .  Dr. Barnes did not acquire knowledge of the details of his drug abuse through the credentialing committee’s proceedings. . . . Accordingly, we hold that the trial court did not violate the statutory privileges provided under N.C.Gen.Stat §§ 131E-95(b), 90-21.22A(c), or 131E-97.2 to the extent it required Dr. Barnes, an original source with respect to the details of his drug abuse, to answer all questions concerning the details of his drug abuse even if the same questions were asked at the credentialing committee hearing.  614 S.E.2d at 376-377.

J.
Class Actions TC "J.
Class Actions" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiffs in Coker v. DaimlerChrysler Corp., ___N.C.App.___, 617 S.E.2d 306 (2005), per curiam affirmed, ___N.C.___, 627 S.E.2d 461 (2006) TA \l "Coker v. DaimlerChrysler Corp., ___N.C.App.___, 617 S.E.2d 306 (2005), per curiam affirmed, ___N.C.___, 627 S.E.2d 461 (2006)" \s "Coker v. DaimlerChrysler Corp., ___N.C.App.___, 617 S.E.2d 306 (2005), per curiam affirmed, ___N.C.___, 627 S.E.2d 461 (2006)" \c 1  were owners of minivans manufactured by the defendant.  The complaint alleged that the minivans did not include a brakeshift interlock device (“BSI”), a device that prevents the vehicle from being moved out of park.  The complaint did not request recovery for personal injury or property damage.  The relief sought was the cost of installing the BSI and the difference in market value between minivans with the BSI and those without it.  The trial court granted the defendant’s motion for judgment on the pleadings pursuant to Rule 12(c).


The Court of Appeals affirmed.  Since the plaintiffs did not allege a present injury or damage, they had no standing to bring the action.

Plaintiffs’ amended complaint demanded damages in an amount sufficient to repair and/or install brake shift interlock on each vehicle, Chrysler to install the brake shift interlock in the minivans of the Plaintiffs and Class members and to provide appropriate notice to all Class members of the dangers in the minivans in the absence of the brake shift interlock.  Plaintiffs did not allege in their amended complaint, before the business court, “an invasion of a legally protected interest that is (a) concrete and particularized and (b) actual or imminent, not conjectural or hypothetical . . . .”  Plaintiffs do not assert or allege they incurred expenses or were damaged by: (1) installing a BSI on their vehicles; or (2) selling their vehicles and realizing a loss due to the absence of BSIs.  In addition, plaintiffs specifically disclaimed and the amended complaint contains no allegations of personal injuries or damage to personal property by plaintiffs.  The sole remedy plaintiffs seek is for possible future expenses not yet incurred.  Plaintiffs’ “damages” are a hypothetical and an unsubstantiated diminution of value allegedly caused by a purported “defect” and the cost of “supposed” remedial measures.  Plaintiffs admit none of these alleged “damages” are realized.  Plaintiffs have not suffered a “concrete and particularized” injury in fact that is “actual or imminent.”  Their claims are too speculative and illusory to show a legal injury in fact.  617 S.E.2d at 313.

The trial court in Harrison v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 170 N.C.App. 545, 613 S.E.2d 322 (2005) TA \l "Harrison v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 613 S.E.2d 322 (2005)" \s "Harrison v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 613 S.E.2d 322 (2005)" \c 1  denied the plaintiffs’ motion for class certification of a proposed class of “all current and former hourly employees of Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. in North Carolina who were employed by Wal-Mart on or subsequent to November 29, 1997.”  The complaint alleged that Wal-Mart engaged in wage and hour abuses, including failing to pay overtime and failing to allow employees to take lunch and rest breaks.


Finding that the trial court’s determinations were not “manifestly unsupported by reason, or so arbitrary that it could not have been the result of a reasoned decision,” 613 S.E.2d at 324, the Court of Appeals affirmed.  The trial court found several deficiencies in applying the proposed class definition to the proposed class representatives and the facts alleged.  The class definition included all Wal-Mart employees for a specific period.  The trial court found that the proposed class included workers who were not subject to wage and hour abuse and other employment practices alleged in the complaint.

As the proposed class included individuals who were not subject to the wage and hour violations that are the basis of Plaintiffs’ claims, the trial court concluded that the proposed class definition “must be rejected.”  Because not every member of the proposed class would have an interest in this action, . . . the trial court’s conclusion that Plaintiffs’ class definition was overbroad and infeasible was neither manifestly unsupported by reason nor so arbitrary that it could not have been the product of a reasoned decision.  613 S.E.2d at 327.


The trial court also found that individual issues rather than common issues would predominate, and, for this additional reason, the proposed class should not be certified.

The trial court held that individual issues predominate as to the formation and terms of Plaintiffs’ contracts, stating, inter alia, “that the evidence on how the alleged contract[s were] formed will vary from associate-to-associate,” that “a determination of the particular terms of each class member’s oral, implied or unilateral agreement is going to turn on individual accounts of conversations and representations made by countless numbers of present and former hourly Personnel Managers,” and that “deposition testimony establishes that putative class members have no uniform understanding with respect to the alleged contracts with Wal-Mart.”  613 S.E.2d at 328.

Similarly, claims alleging unjust enrichment and quantum meruit would “require a person-by-person examination” of each wage and hour violation alleged and each lunch or rest break alleged.  Finally, some members of the proposed class had supervisory authority over other proposed members of the class.  The trial court concluded that the supervisor members of the proposed class would be in direct conflict with class members they supervised.

K.
Mediation TC "K.
Mediation" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiff in Cohen Schatz Associates, Inc. v. Perry, 169 N.C.App. 834, 611 S.E.2d 229 (2005) TA \l "Cohen Schatz Associates, Inc. v. Perry, ___N.C.App.___, 611 S.E.2d 229 (2005)" \s "Cohen Schatz Associates, Inc. v. Perry, ___N.C.App.___, 611 S.E.2d 229 (2005)" \c 1  alleged that the defendants conspired to conduct the sale of real property to avoid paying the plaintiff a commission on the sale.  A mediated settlement conference was held after which the mediator reported that a settlement had been reached.  An agreement incorporating the terms of the mediated settlement was signed by the defendants.  The agreement was not signed by anyone representing the plaintiff.  The trial court granted the defendant’s motion for summary judgment.  On appeal, the plaintiff argued that the trial court erred in addressing the defendant’s motion for summary judgment, and should have, instead, dismissed the claims as moot as a result of the mediated settlement agreement.


The Court of Appeals disagreed and affirmed the trial court’s summary judgment order.  The plaintiff did not move for summary judgment to enforce the mediated settlement agreement.  The plaintiff was correct that the claims were moot as a result of the mediated settlement agreement.  The proper procedure, however, would have been for the plaintiff to move for summary judgment and an order by the trial court “acknowledging the parties settlement.”  611 S.E.2d at 231.  Since the plaintiff had not signed the settlement agreement, it would not be enforced.

L.
Arbitration TC "L.
Arbitration" \f C \l "2" 

The defendant in Pineville Forest Homeowners v. Portrait, ___N.C.App.___, 623 S.E.2d 620 (2006) TA \l "Pineville Forest Homeowners v. Portrait, ___N.C.App.___, 623 S.E.2d 620 (2006)" \s "Pineville Forest Homeowners v. Portrait, ___N.C.App.___, 623 S.E.2d 620 (2006)" \c 1  developed Pineville Forest, a residential community with about 133 residential units in 24 separate buildings.  The present action alleged that improvements to the residential units were defective.  The defendant moved to dismiss on the grounds that the Declaration concerning the property filed with the Mecklenburg County Public Registry and the warranty on which the suit was based required arbitration of all disputes.  The trial court’s order denying the defendant’s motion to compel arbitration stated only that the motion was “denied.”


The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded for appropriate findings of fact concerning the applicability of the arbitration provisions.  Since the question of whether a dispute is subject to arbitration is a matter of law for the trial court, the decision of the trial court is reviewable de novo.  In order to conduct review on appeal, the grounds for the trial judge’s decision must be reflected in findings of fact and conclusions of law.

On remand, the trial court may hear evidence and further argument to the extent it determines in its discretion that either or both may be necessary and appropriate.  Thereafter, the court is to enter a new order containing findings which sustain its determination regarding the validity and applicability of the arbitration provisions. . . .  “Our holding does not require the trial court to make detailed and specific findings of fact regarding the agreement to arbitration.  Rather, the trial court’s order must simply reflect whether or not a valid agreement to arbitrate exists between the parties.”  623 S.E.2d at 625.


The plaintiffs in Ellen v. A.C. Schultes of Maryland, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 729 (2005), petition for discretionary review filed 6 September 2005, TA \l "Ellen v. A.C. Schultes of Maryland, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 729 (2005)" \s "Ellen v. A.C. Schultes of Maryland, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 729 (2005)" \c 1  were shareholders in Atlantic Coast Construction & Utility, Inc. (ACCU), a construction company engaged in water and sewer work.  In 1999, ACCU entered into agreements with Schultes by which ACCU would be the subcontractor for construction projects awarded to Schultes.  The subcontracts for each of the five projects contained a clause requiring all controversies “arising out of or related to this Subcontract, or the breach thereof, shall be settled by arbitration.”  615 S.E.2d at 730.  During the spring of 2000, negotiations were conducted about a proposed purchase of ACCU by Schultes.  When these discussions failed, Schultes filed a complaint requiring arbitration of all claims arising out of the five subcontracts.  The trial court ordered arbitration of all claims arising out of these projects.


The present complaint alleged unfair and deceptive trade practices and tortious interference with prospective business advantages.  The factual allegations included a claim of sexual harassment by one of the officers of Schultes against one of the shareholders of ACCU.  The complaint also alleged that Shultes slandered ACCU by telling vendors and subcontractors that ACCU would not pay its bills and was converting project funds to personal use.  Schultes filed a motion to compel arbitration of these claims.


The trial court denied the motion to compel arbitration.  The Court of Appeals affirmed.  A trial court must first determine whether the “specific dispute is covered by the ‘substantive scope of the agreement’ and whether ‘the parties had a valid agreement to arbitrate.’”  615 S.E.2d at 731-732.

In the instant case, plaintiffs are not seeking any direct benefits from the contracts containing the relevant arbitration clause, nor are they asserting any rights arising under the ACCU-AC Schultes contracts.  Neither plaintiffs’ allegations of unfair and deceptive trade practices nor plaintiffs’ allegations of tortious interference depend upon the contracts containing the arbitration clause.  Both of the claims are dependent upon legal duties imposed by North Carolina statutory or common law rather than contract law. . . .  Therefore, because plaintiffs are not seeking a direct benefit from the provisions of the ACCU-AC Schultes contracts, we conclude that the doctrine of equitable estoppel cannot be used to force plaintiffs to arbitrate their individual claims.  Accordingly, we hold that the trial court did not err in denying defendants’ motions to compel arbitration.  615 S.E.2d at 733.


The plaintiffs in Brown v. Centex Homes, 171 N.C.App. 741, 615 S.E.2d 86 (2005) TA \l "Brown v. Centex Homes, ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 86 (2005)" \s "Brown v. Centex Homes, ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 86 (2005)" \c 1  met with the defendant, Mary Kroening, and discussed the purchase of a home owned by Centex located in a residential subdivision.  During the discussion, the plaintiffs asked Kroening whether there were any plans to develop an adjoining wooded area.  Kroening replied that there were no plans, but if the property were developed, it would be residential.  At the time of this discussion, a shopping center with a Wal-Mart store had been approved for the wooded area.  The contract for the purchase of the house from Centex contained an arbitration clause.  On motion of the defendants, the trial court granted the motion to compel as to Centex.  Since Kroening was not a party to the contract, the trial court denied the motion to compel arbitration as to Kroening.


The Court of Appeals held that the arbitration clause extended to Kroening.

Kroening did not sign the Contract which included the arbitration clause.  However, her status as an agent of Centex affords her the right of arbitration.  The basis for plaintiffs’ claims derive from Kroening’s representation as an agent for Centex. . . .  In order to reach Centex, plaintiffs must show Kroening was acting as its agent in furtherance of its business goals during the times at issue. . . .  Plaintiffs cannot circumvent the arbitration agreement with Centex by seeking damages from Centex’s individual employee.  We hold the arbitration clause in the Contract between plaintiffs and Centex extends to Kroening.  615 S.E.2d at 89.

The plaintiffs in Moose v. Versailles Condominium Association, ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 418 (2005) TA \l "Moose v. Versailles Condominium Association, ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 418 (2005)" \s "Moose v. Versailles Condominium Association, ___N.C.App.___, 614 S.E.2d 418 (2005)" \c 1  were members of the defendant Association.  The plaintiffs’ property was damaged by a fire on 1 December 2001.  As a result of a dispute about the quality of repairs caused by the fire, suit was filed on 7 March 2003.  The defendant’s answer did not contain a motion to compel arbitration or to stay the action.  Discovery was initiated by all parties, including interrogatories, requests for documents and depositions of the plaintiff.  On  10 November 2003, the plaintiffs were allowed to amend their complaint.  The answer of the defendant to the amended complaint contained a motion to compel arbitration.  The trial court found that there was a valid and enforceable arbitration agreement between the parties that was in force and binding.  The trial court also found that the defendant had waived the right to have arbitration by participating in extensive discovery before filing the motion to compel arbitration.


The Court of Appeals affirmed.  First, the Court held that the order denying arbitration was appealable because it involved a “substantial right” that “may be lost if review is delayed.”  614 S.E.2d at 422.  On appeal, the trial court’s findings of fact are conclusive “when supported by any evidence.”  614 S.E.2d at 422.  The Court of Appeals agreed with the trial court that the defendant had engaged in discovery that it would not have been allowed to take if arbitration had been demanded promptly.  The plaintiffs also submitted an affidavit detailing $32,854 in legal expenses associated with the discovery taken by the defendant.

. . . plaintiffs would not be subject to being deposed in arbitration.  By taking their depositions before requesting arbitration, defendant took advantage of a discovery procedure not available in arbitration in order to gain access to evidence.  Having benefited therefore, defendant demanded arbitration, cutting off plaintiffs’ ability to obtain discovery. . . . In this case, the trial court’s findings of fact are supported by the evidence and the conclusions of law are supported by the findings of fact.  Therefore, defendant has impliedly waived its right to compel arbitration.  614 S.E.2d at 423-424.

M.
Rule 68 – Offers of Judgment TC "M.
Rule 68 – Offers of Judgment" \f C \l "2" 

Ennis v. Henderson, ___N.C.App.___, 627 S.E.2d 324 (2006) TA \l "Ennis v. Henderson, ___N.C.App.___, 627 S.E.2d 324 (2006)" \s "Ennis v. Henderson, ___N.C.App.___, 627 S.E.2d 324 (2006)" \c 1  arose out of an automobile accident on 11 August 1999.  On 6 December 2004, defendants served an offer of judgment for $4,501 together with costs accrued to the date of the offer.  On 17 December 2004, the plaintiff moved the court to extend by fourteen days the time to respond to the offer of judgment.  The court granted the plaintiff’s motion ex parte and extended the time to 31 December 2004.  On 30 December 2004, the plaintiff accepted the offer of judgment.  In response to the defendants’ motion “to determine the sufficiency of plaintiff’s acceptance” of the offer, the trial court ruled that it had authority under Rule 6(b) to extend the time for plaintiff to respond.  The trial judge then entered judgment in favor of the plaintiff for $4,501, attorneys fees of $3,500, and costs of $94.76.


Holding that there is no authority to extend the time to respond to an offer of judgment, the Court of Appeals reversed.

Historically, trial courts used Rule 6(b) to enlarge the time to file summons, complaints, and answers.  The difference, however, between these situations and Rule 68 is that offers of judgment do not require a response by the other party.  Specifically, if ten days pass from the date an offer is made and the other party does not accept, the offer is automatically rescinded per operation of the Rule.  In contrast, the filing of a complaint necessitates the filing of an answer and thus, trial courts have discretion, pursuant to Rule 6(b), to grant extensions of time to parties to file these documents.  There is no similar necessity regarding offers of judgment under Rule 68.  627 S.E.2d at 326.

N.
G.S. §§ 6-18, 6-19, 6-20 – Court Costs TC "N.
G.S. §§ 6-18, 6-19, 6-20 – Court Costs" \f C \l "2" 

Morgan v. Steiner, ___N.C.App.___, 619 S.E.2d 516 (2005) TA \l "Morgan v. Steiner, ___N.C.App.___, 619 S.E.2d 516 (2005)" \s "Morgan v. Steiner, ___N.C.App.___, 619 S.E.2d 516 (2005)" \c 1  was an action alleging medical malpractice.  The defendants served an offer of judgment pursuant to Rule 68.  The offer was not accepted.  The jury returned a verdict in favor of all defendants.  The trial court awarded costs against the plaintiff in the amount of $31,082.87.


On appeal, the Court of Appeals held that the trial court must first determine whether the requested costs are identified in G.S. § 7A-305(d).  If the requested costs are not listed in Chapter 7A, the trial court must next decide whether the costs are “common law costs.”  If the costs are common law costs, then the standard for review on appeal is whether the trial judge abused his discretion in allowing the costs.


The Court of Appeals then analyzed the costs awarded by the trial court:

1.  Deposition Costs  The trial court properly awarded costs for depositions.  Although these costs are not listed in G.S. § 7A-305(d), they are “common law costs” permissible under G.S. § 6-20 because they were recognized prior to 1982 when G.S. § 7A-305(d) was enacted.

2.  Costs for Obtained Medical Records  The trial court erred in ordering payment of these costs.  They are not listed in G.S. § 7A-305(d).  There is no common law ground for allowing these costs.

3.  Expert Witness Fees for Trial  Expert witness fees are provided in G.S. § 7A-305(d) if the witness is under subpoena.  G.S. § 7A-305(e) modifies the number of expert witness fees allowed by providing that if more than two witnesses testify as to the same point, the party issuing the subpoena is responsible for the costs of the third witness.  The trial court included within the fee allowed the time associated with meeting with counsel and reviewing records.  The Court held that there was no statutory or common law basis for allowing fees for meeting with counsel and reviewing records.

4.  Trial Exhibit Fees  Acknowledging a division among panels, the Court held that it was error to award costs for trial exhibits.  Exhibit costs are not included in G.S. § 7A-305(d), and there is no common law basis for an award.


O.
G.S. § 97-10.2 – Workers’ Compensation Liens TC "O.
G.S. § 97-10.2 – Workers’ Compensation Liens" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiff in Helsius v. Robertson, ___N.C.App.___, 621 S.E.2d 263 (2005) TA \l "Helsius v. Robertson, ___N.C.App.___, 621 S.E.2d 263 (2005)" \s "Helsius v. Robertson, ___N.C.App.___, 621 S.E.2d 263 (2005)" \c 1  was injured in the course and scope of his employment with the Durham County Sheriff’s Office on 14 July 2003 when his motorcycle was struck by a vehicle operated by Elwanda Robertson.  As a result of injuries received in the accident, Durham County paid $53,128.40 in workers’ compensation benefits.  The plaintiff also recovered the limits of Ms. Robertson’s liability insurance policy of $30,000 and $20,000 from his underinsured coverage for a total of $50,000.  On motion of the plaintiff, the trial court extinguished the subrogation lien of Durham County on any of the plaintiff’s recovery.


The Court of Appeals affirmed.  In the order extinguishing the lien, the trial judge made extensive findings of fact and conclusions of law.  The trial court followed Allen v. Rupard, 100 N.C.App. 490, 397 S.E.2d 330 (1990) and supported its exercise of discretion and “reasoned choice” in considering the plaintiff’s injuries and expenses, future medical treatment and physical limitations and net recovery.

Petitioner stated that although respondent has paid most of his medical bills and two-thirds of his gross salary while he was out of work, he has not been compensated for the remaining one-third of his salary, his lost wages from his secondary employment, his expenses incurred in seeing the chiropractor, or for the pain and suffering he has already experienced and continues to experience. . . . the court was presented with evidence showing that petitioner had received $50,000 and that respondent claimed a lien in the amount of $53,128.40.  We therefore hold there was competent evidence to support the finding that petitioner’s net recovery would be reduced to zero without the extinguishment of respondent’s lien.  621 S.E.2d at 269.

The plaintiff in Childress v. Fluor Daniel, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 868 (2005) TA \l "Childress v. Fluor Daniel, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 868 (2005)" \s "Childress v. Fluor Daniel, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 868 (2005)" \c 1  received an award from the Industrial Commission of $20,000 for each of three internal organs damaged by exposure to asbestos pursuant to G.S. § 97-31(24).  The Commission also ordered the defendants to pay all medical expenses.  The plaintiff appealed to the Court of Appeals contending that the Commission should also have addressed distribution of the award and the interests of third parties.  The Court of Appeals held that the Commission did not have jurisdiction to address these issues until a final award was entered.


The present appeal arose from the plaintiff’s motion in superior court to distribute the settlement proceeds and reduce the defendants’ lien.  The trial court held that it did not have jurisdiction.  The Court of Appeals reversed.

Thus, the superior court, in its discretion, determines whether to order any reduction in the lien (the amount the workers’ compensation carrier or employer may recover from the third party settlement), pursuant to N.C.Gen.Stat. § 97-10.2(j).  In a separate proceeding, pursuant to N.C.Gen.Stat. § 97-10.2(f)(1), the Commission then issues an order detailing to whom and in what amounts the funds will be distributed, including the amounts of distribution to satisfy the workers’ compensation lien if any, once the workers’ compensation award is final.  N.C.Gen.Stat. § 97-10.2 specifies that while the power to set the amount of the lien is in the superior (or federal) court pursuant to N.C.Gen.Stat. § 97-10.2(j), the Commission orders distribution under N.C.Gen.Stat. § 97-10.2(f)(1).  The court erred by applying the latter provision, when it should have looked to N.C.Gen.Stat. § 97-10.2(j), which explicitly gives it jurisdiction over settling the amount of the lien.  615 S.E.2d at 870.

P.
G.S. § 66-152 – Trade Secrets TC "P.
G.S. § 66-152 – Trade Secrets" \f C \l "2" 

The parties in Sunbelt Rentals v. Head & Engquist, ___N.C.App.___, 620 S.E.2d 222 (2005) TA \l "Sunbelt Rentals v. Head & Engquist, ___N.C.App.___, 620 S.E.2d 222 (2005)" \s "Sunbelt Rentals v. Head & Engquist, ___N.C.App.___, 620 S.E.2d 222 (2005)" \c 1  were competitors in the market for construction equipment, particularly aerial work platforms (AWP).  Sunbelt purchased BPS Equipment Rental and Sales (BPS) in June 2000.  Hepler and Kline, employees of BPS, learned through the Internet that BPS was to be sold.  Hepler and Kline developed an Aerial Equipment Specialists Plan (AES plan) which included fleet mixes for branches based on local markets and employee compensation rates.  Hepler and Kline were not successful in their efforts to sell the AES plan.  In November 1999, Helpler and Kline resigned from BPS and began working for the defendant, Head & Engquist (H & E).  In June 2000, former BPS managers had been recruited and hired by H & E to perform duties similar to those they had at BPS.


Sunbelt filed suit in July 2000 alleging claims for breach of fiduciary duty, aiding and abetting breach of fiduciary duty, tortious interference with prospective relations, violation of the North Carolina Trade Secrets Protection Act, violation of the North Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, and civil conspiracy.  The trial court dismissed the claims alleging breach of fiduciary duty against all defendants.  The remaining claims were tried to the court.  An award was entered for $5 million which was trebled under G.S. § 75-16.  The court also awarded the plaintiff attorneys’ fees of $1.2 million.  The final judgment incorporated these amounts and added pre-judgment and post-judgment interest.


The Court of Appeals affirmed.  The defendants contended that the compilation of business information does not constitute a trade secret under G.S. § 66-152.  The Court disagreed.

Plaintiff considered the following to be confidential: its customer information, preferred customer pricing, employees’ salaries, equipment rates, fleet mix information, budget information and structure of the business.  The trial court determined such information was (1) not generally known outside BPS; (2) only discreetly disclosed within BPS; (3) guarded as secret (e.g. information removed from view when outsiders visited BPS’ premises, pricing kept in special books, passwords used to protect computer access, file removal rules and salary information kept under lock and key); (4) competitively valuable; (5) developed at significant cost to BPS; and (6) difficult to duplicate or acquire. . . . We therefore hold the trial court did not err in concluding plaintiff’s compilation of business information constitutes a trade secret.  620 S.E.2d at 227-228.


The defendant next argued that there was insufficient evidence of misappropriation of the trade secrets.  A plaintiff makes a prima facie case of misappropriation by introducing “substantial evidence” that the defendant: (1) knew or should have known of the trade secret; and (2) had an opportunity to acquire or disclose it without the consent of the owner.  The Court of Appeals relied on evidence introduced by the plaintiff showing that H & E had no customers in North Carolina, Georgia or Florida prior to hiring the former BPS employees.  During this period, the defendants’ actions resulted in a $3.7 million income to the defendant with a corresponding loss to the BPS branches.

In fact, there is no evidence that defendants had independent business development in any of the new markets.  Former BPS customers were rapidly identified, converted to defendant – H & E’s customer base and extended credit based on knowledge obtained through BPS’ former employees.  Defendants failed to rebut this evidence establishing a prima facie case of misappropriation of trade secrets.  620 S.E.2d at 229.

The Court of Appeals also affirmed the trial court’s finding of a Chapter 75 violation based on the use of former BPS employees to solicit key persons still employed by BPS.  The Court agreed with the trial court that this conduct “devastated, rather than competed with” the plaintiff.  620 S.E.2d at 231.

The plaintiff’s expert measured the plaintiff’s damages based on: (1) lost profits and (2) lost market share resulting from the defendant’s “accelerated entry” into the market.  The Court of Appeals agreed with the basis of the expert’s damages opinions and the trial court’s award.

Q.
G.S. § 75-1.1 – Unfair and Deceptive Trade Practices TC "Q.
G.S. § 75-1.1 – Unfair or Deceptive Practices" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiffs in Willen v. Hewson, ___N.C.App.___, 622 S.E.2d 187 (2005) TA \l "Willen v. Hewson, ___N.C.App.___, 622 S.E.2d 187 (2005)" \s "Willen v. Hewson, ___N.C.App.___, 622 S.E.2d 187 (2005)" \c 1  purchased from the defendant twenty-two acres of land with a large house.  The plaintiffs informed the defendant that they intended to raise their four small children on the property.  Defendant told the plaintiffs that she had been raised and resided on property adjacent to the land for over forty years and that the land was suitable for raising children.  During the plaintiffs’ inspection of the property, they talked with the defendant’s niece, Langevin.  Langevin mentioned problems with “kids coming onto the property after high school football games.”  When the defendant was questioned about these occurrences, the defendant denied that any trespass problems existed and stated that the niece often exaggerated.


The plaintiffs closed on the property on 29 September 2000.  The purchase price for the house and surrounding land was $700,000.  The price for the remaining fourteen acres was $238,165.  After moving into the house, the plaintiffs learned that there was a long-existing problem with trespass and vandalism on the property.  Over the next two years, the plaintiffs had frequent trespass and vandalism on the land and their house.  The case was tried to the court without a jury.  The trial court found that the defendant was aware of the history of trespass and vandalism on the property and withheld these facts from the plaintiff.  The trial court then concluded that the defendant’s conduct constituted fraud and unfair and deceptive practices.  Judgment was entered in favor of the plaintiffs for $322,753.59.  Attorneys’ fees of $55,000 and costs of $3,284.18 were also awarded.


The Court of Appeals affirmed.  The Court held that there was sufficient facts for the trial court’s conclusion of fraud by the defendant.

“Even if there is no duty to disclose information, if a seller does speak then he must make a full and fair disclosure of the matters he discloses.” . . . .  When plaintiffs specifically inquired of defendant regarding a potential trespass problem, she denied that such problem existed, although she had full knowledge of the severity of the trespass and vandalism problem at Deverill.  The trespass problem was a material fact which defendant deliberately concealed in order to realize a substantial profit on the sale of her property.  The trial court found that plaintiffs would not have purchased the property had they known of the trespass and vandalism problem.  We conclude the trial court properly determined that plaintiffs’ reliance upon defendant’s false representations was reasonable and not fatal to their claim of fraud.  622 S.E.2d at 191.

The defendant argued that the sale of the property was an “isolated occurrence” that did not entitle the plaintiffs to a claim under Chapter 75.  Relying upon Bhatti v. Buckland, 328 N.C. 240, 400 S.E.2d 440 (1991) TA \l "Bhatti v. Buckland, 328 N.C. 240, 400 S.E.2d 440 (1991)" \s "Bhatti v. Buckland, 328 N.C. 240, 400 S.E.2d 440 (1991)" \c 1 , the Court disagreed.

Defendant here was not engaged in the sale of her own residence.  In fact, she had purchased the property only two months earlier for $685,000.  The trial court found that she “was motivated by the potential for profit, and she received actual gross profit in the amount of $253,165 from her conduct[.]”  As such, she has not carried her burden of demonstrating that the transaction was beyond the scope of Chapter 75.  622 S.E.2d at 192.

The plaintiff in Johnson v. Colonial Life & Acc. Ins. Co., ___N.C.App.___, 618 S.E.2d 867 (2005), pet. disc. rev. denied, 360 N.C. 290, 627 S.E.2d 620 (2006) TA \l "Johnson v. Colonial Life & Acc. Ins. Co., ___N.C.App.___, 618 S.E.2d 867 (2005), pet. disc. rev. denied, 360 N.C. 290, 627 S.E.2d 620 (2006)" \s "Johnson v. Colonial Life & Acc. Ins. Co., ___N.C.App.___, 618 S.E.2d 867 (2005), pet. disc. rev. denied, 360 N.C. 290, 627 S.E.2d 620 (2006)" \c 1  sued his former employer for terminating his employment without cause.  Colonial contended that the plaintiff was terminated for cause for filing a fraudulent claim for insurance benefits.  The plaintiff contended that he was terminated in retaliation for assisting policyholders in completing insurance claims.  The jury agreed with the plaintiff and awarded $537,887 for breach of contract.  The jury additionally found that Colonial had engaged in two of three aggravating factors associated with the breach of contract.  Finally, the jury awarded $1,075,774 for intentional infliction of emotional distress.


On motion of the plaintiff under G.S. §§ 1-75.1 and 75-16, the trial judge ordered that the jury’s findings of the two aggravating factors established Colonial’s unfair and deceptive trade practices and entitled the plaintiff to treble damages and attorneys’ fees.  Judgment was entered for $537,887 for breach of contract and $297,561.01 in prejudgment interest.  Adding the damages for breach of contract and prejudgment interest, then trebling resulted in an award of $2,506,344.06.  $414,984.68 was added to the $1,075,774 award for intentional infliction of emotional distress.  Additional awards for COBRA violations produced a total judgment of $4,138,276.92 with post-judgment interest.


The Court of Appeals affirmed the jury award for breach of contract and the jury’s findings of aggravating factors associated with the breach.  It was proper, therefore, for the trial judge to conclude as a matter of law that the plaintiff had a claim under G.S. § 75-1.1.  Colonial argued that the breach of contract claim should be separated from the Chapter 75 claim.  The Court disagreed, stating that when the aggravating conduct is a continuing part of the breach of contract conduct, there is one transaction that entitles the plaintiff to Chapter 75 damages.

The Court, however, found that the trial judge erred in added the prejudgment interest on the breach of contract claim before trebling.

Pre-judgment interest may be awarded on compensatory damages for breach of contract.  N.C.Gen.Stat. § 24-5(a) (2003).  However, according to N.C.Gen.Stat. § 75-16, inter alia, the amount of damages to be trebled are those fixed by the verdict. . . .  This Court has held that a pre-judgment interest award should not attach to the trebled damages, but only to the actual damages awarded for the breach of contract that was found to be an unfair trade practice.  618 S.E.2d at 872.


The Court held that it was error to submit the claim for intentional infliction of emotional distress to the jury.

The evidence presented at trial as to extreme and outrageous conduct consisted of several meetings over a course of time in which threats to Mr. Johnson were made concerning losing his job and health insurance and accusations in regards to submitting a false claim.  These comments, although insulting and offensive to Mr. Johnson do not constitute conduct which is so egregious as to go “beyond all possible bounds of decency.” . . . .  Therefore, as a matter of law, the trial judge erred in submitting the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim to the jury where the evidence failed to show extreme and outrageous conduct.  618 S.E.2d at 873.


The COBRA claim was submitted to the jury.  On appeal, Colonial contended that subject matter did not exist over this claim.  Finding that exclusive jurisdiction of the COBRA claim was in federal courts, the Court of Appeals dismissed this claim.  The case was remanded for entry of an award consistent with the Court’s opinion.

The plaintiff in Excel Staffing Service, Inc. v. HP Reidsville, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 616 S.E.2d 349 (2005) TA \l "Excel Staffing Service, Inc. v. HP Reidsville, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 616 S.E.2d 349 (2005)" \s "Excel Staffing Service, Inc. v. HP Reidsville, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 616 S.E.2d 349 (2005)" \c 1  entered into a contract with the defendants to provide supplemental nursing services.  Suit was brought for breach of the contract and alleged failure to pay for the services.  Before the defendants answered, the plaintiff served requests for admissions.  As required by Rule 5(d), the requests for admissions were filed with the clerk of court.  The defendants never responded to the requests for admissions.  On motion of the plaintiff, the trial court found that each of the requests were admitted.  Based upon the admissions, the plaintiff moved for summary judgment on the breach of contract and unfair and deceptive trade practice claims.  The trial court granted summary judgment.


The Court of Appeals held that the trial court had properly determined that the defendants failure to respond to the requests for admissions resulted in the requests being admitted.  The defendants argued that the requests were factually identical to the allegations of the complaint, therefore, the denials in the answer were also denials of the requests for admissions.  The Court of Appeals disagreed.

We hold that an answer to allegations in a complaint does not serve as a response to a request for admission, even if the matters addressed in both are identical.  616 S.E.2d at 352-353.


One of the requests for admissions established that the defendants had established a subsidiary corporation for the purpose of limiting the liability of the parent corporation.  The trial court held that this was an unfair and deceptive trade practice.  The Court of Appeals reversed.

Requests for Admission 7 merely establishes that defendants set up Reidsville for the purpose of limiting their liability.  To hold as a matter of law that this constitutes an unfair and deceptive trade practice would be to expose every parent corporation or holding company in this state to liability under Chapter 75 for organizing their business in a manner that has heretofore been held to be legal.

   We hold as a matter of law that the mere establishment of a subsidiary corporation for the purpose of limiting the parent corporation’s liability is not per se an unfair and deceptive trade practice under Chapter 75.  This portion of the trial court’s judgment finding such a violation and awarding treble damages is reversed.  616 S.E.2d at 355.

R.
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Jury Instructions – Peculiar Susceptibility, N.C.P.I. – Civ 102.20" \f C \l "2" 

The plaintiff in Hughes v. Webster, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 177 (2006) TA \l "Hughes v. Webster, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 177 (2006)" \s "Hughes v. Webster, ___N.C.App.___, 625 S.E.2d 177 (2006)" \c 1  alleged that the defendant pharmacist filled his prescription with the wrong drug.  The parties stipulated that the defendants were negligent in filling the prescription and that the only issue for trial was whether the plaintiff was injured or damaged by the defendants’ negligence.  Mr. Hughes was hospitalized three times before the error in his drugs was discovered.  During the initial hospitalization, Mr. Hughes sustained damage to his heart and suffered a stroke.


During the charge conference, both parties requested N.C.P.I. – Civ. 102.20 on peculiar susceptibility.  After further discussion, the trial judge decided not to give the instruction.  The jury awarded the plaintiff $50,000.  The Court of Appeals held that the instruction should have been given.

In general, where the facts of a case warrant a jury instruction on peculiar susceptibility, and where the trial court fails to charge the jury accordingly, such a failure may constitute reversible error. . . .  “The general rule is that if the defendant’s act would not have resulted in any injury to an ordinary person, he is not liable for its harmful consequences to one of peculiar susceptibility, except insofar as he was on notice of the existence of such susceptibility, but if his misconduct amounted to a breach of duty to a person of ordinary susceptibility, he is liable for all damages suffered by plaintiff notwithstanding the fact that these damages were unusually extensive because of peculiar susceptibility.” . . . .

   In the instant case, there was evidence at trial that an ordinary person would have been injured in the form of the normal toxicity effect of the drug Aricept such as vomiting, nausea and slowed heart rate.  Further, there was evidence that Mr. Hughes’ heart damage (cardiomyopathy) and stroke were caused by a hypersensitive drug reaction to Aricept.  This evidence warrants an instruction on peculiar susceptibility. . . .  There were allusions throughout the trial to a hypersensitive drug reaction of Mr. Hughes, yet the jury was in no way instructed on what to do with this evidence.  625 S.E.2d at 181.

The trial judge excluded one of the plaintiff’s experts, Dr. Douglas Kelling from testifying.  The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court’s ruling on two grounds.  First, Dr. Kelling’s causation opinion had changed from the time he was deposed until he testified at trial.  Since the court’s pretrial order required disclosure of all expert opinions, failure of the plaintiff to disclose the change in Dr. Kelling’s opinion was a violation of the pretrial order.  At trial, Dr. Kelling admitted that he was testifying in an area in which he was not an expert.  Dr. Kelling also testified that he had reached his trial opinion only after reading the opinion of another expert in the field.  For these reasons, Dr. Kelling was correctly excluded from testifying at trial.

S.
Evidence TC "S.
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(1)
Motions in Limine TC "(1)
Motions in Limine" \f C \l "3" 
Miller v. Forsyth Memorial Hospital, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 618 S.E.2d 838 (2005) TA \l "Miller v. Forsyth Memorial Hospital, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 618 S.E.2d 838 (2005)" \s "Miller v. Forsyth Memorial Hospital, Inc., ___N.C.App.___, 618 S.E.2d 838 (2005)" \c 1  was an action alleging medical malpractice.  In response to the plaintiff’s discovery requests, the defendants asserted the peer review privilege in G.S. § 90-21.22.  The defendants’ objection was upheld when plaintiff filed a motion to compel.  The defendants made a pretrial motion in limine to prevent the plaintiff from offering evidence concerning the peer review process.  The trial judge granted the defendants’ in limine motion, but noted the conditional nature of the ruling.  During trial, the plaintiff did not attempt to introduce any evidence relating to the peer review process.


The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial judge’s ruling on the basis that the plaintiff had not preserved the issue for appeal.

At no time during the trial did plaintiffs attempt to present the evidence which was the subject of the motion in limine, to the jury.  Plaintiffs did not move to reopen the evidence.  The only ruling upon this evidence was made on 22 September 2003.  As such, the ruling is governed by the previous version of Rule 103(a)(2) of the Rules of Civil Procedure and not the version applicable to rulings made on or after 1 October 2003.  By failing to offer this evidence at trial, plaintiffs failure to preserve this issue on appeal.  618 S.E.2d at 841.  

The defendant in State v. Tutt, 171 N.C.App. 518, 615 S.E.2d 688 (2005) TA \l "State v. Tutt, ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 688 (2005)" \s "State v. Tutt, ___N.C.App.___, 615 S.E.2d 688 (2005)" \c 1  was convicted of robbery with a dangerous weapon and conspiracy.  The defendant made a pretrial motion to suppress a photographic lineup identification.  The trial judge denied the motion.  The photographic lineup was admitted into evidence without objection by the defendant.  Although the defendant failed to object at trial to the photographic lineup, the defendant argued on appeal that the General Assembly’s 2004 amendment to Rule 103(a)(2) preserved the objection on appeal.


The Court of Appeals disagreed and held that only the Supreme Court had the authority “to make rules of procedure and practice for the Appellate Division.”  615 S.E.2d at 691.

The General Assembly, however, recently amended Rule 103(a) of the North Carolina Rules of Evidence to provide: “Once the court makes a definitive ruling on the record admitting or excluding evidence, either at or before trial, a party need not renew an objection or offer of proof to preserve a claim of error for appeal.” . . . .  However, Rule 102(a)(2) of the North Carolina Rules of Evidence is in direct conflict with Rule 10(b)(1) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure as interpreted by our case law on point.  Under the Constitution of North Carolina, “the Supreme Court shall have exclusive authority to make rules of procedure and practice for the Appellate Division.” . . . .  In sum, we must hold that to the extent that N.C.Gen.Stat. § 8C‑1, Rule 103(a)(2) is inconsistent with N.C.R.App.P. 10(b)(1), it must fall. . . .  Accordingly, we hold that Defendant did not properly preserve his objection to the lineup for appellate review.  615 S.E.2d at 690-692.

In its discretion, the Court reviewed the evidence and affirmed the trial court’s pretrial ruling denying the motion to suppress.  Judge Tyson dissented.

(2)
Experts TC "(2)
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In NC Dept. of Transp. v. Haywood County, 360 N.C.  349, 626 S.E.2d 645 (2006) TA \l "NC Dept. of Transp. v. Haywood County, 360 N.C.  349, 626 S.E.2d 645 (2006)" \s "NC Dept. of Transp. v. Haywood County, 360 N.C.  349, 626 S.E.2d 645 (2006)" \c 1 , the Department of Transportation brought a condemnation proceeding against the County.  The plaintiff estimated the compensation for the appropriated property at $10,125, and upon the County’s disagreement, deposited that amount with the Clerk.  At trial, the County presented the opinions of three experts concerning the damages to the property.  When questioned about the grounds for their opinions, the experts testified “I felt like in my opinion that 30 percent damage worked well with this building . . . my personal opinion based on experience.”  One expert admitted that he did not use “any mathematical formula” in reaching his opinion.  Although another expert testified that his opinion was based on his experience, he could not identify comparable sales on which his estimate was based.  At the close of the defendant’s evidence the trial court granted the plaintiff’s motion for a directed verdict as to the testimony of the defendant’s experts and directed the jury not to consider the defendant’s evidence.  The jury returned a verdict for the defendant of $21,000.


The Supreme Court found no abuse of discretion by the trial judge and affirmed.

Although each expert had experience in appraising real estate, none articulated any method used to arrive at his figures, even when closely questioned.  To the contrary, these experts’ testimony about feelings and personal opinions, unsupported by objective criteria, explains and justifies the trial court’s concern that their opinions were based on hunches and speculation.  Because the trial court’s threshold determination that the experts’ methods of proof lacked sufficient reliability was neither arbitrary nor the result of an unreasoned decision, we hold that the trial court’s grant of plaintiff’s motion for a directed verdict was not an abuse of discretion.  626 S.E.2d at 647.

The plaintiff in Banks v. Dunn, ___N.C.App.___, ___S.E.2d ___, 2006 WL 1222981 (2006) TA \l "Banks v. Dunn, ___N.C.App.___, ___S.E.2d ___, 2006 WL 1222981 (2006)" \s "Banks v. Dunn, ___N.C.App.___, ___S.E.2d ___, 2006 WL 1222981 (2006)" \c 1  alleged claims of common law trespass, nuisance and violation of the North Carolina Sedimentation Pollution Control Act.  The property of the plaintiff and defendant adjoined and was separated by a “drainage ditch.”  The property of each party slopped down to the ditch.  In April 2001, the defendant dumped sixty-eight truckloads of fill dirt on the hill behind property.  Subsequent rains caused dirt to run into the drainage ditch and water to stand on the plaintiff’s property.  At trial, witnesses for the plaintiff testified about the flow of water downhill from the defendant’s property onto the plaintiff’s property.  The jury returned a verdict of $14,000 for the plaintiff.

On appeal, the defendant argued that the trial judge had erred in permitting witnesses for the plaintiff to testify about the flow of water without being qualified as experts.  The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial judge and held that the plaintiff’s witnesses were not required to be experts in relation to the testimony they gave.

Unlike Davis [v. City of Mebane, 132 N.C.App.500, 512 S.E.2d 450 (1999)], the instant case does not involve a reservoir, a dam, or other large scale municipal water project; nor does it involve the interplay of water currents upstream and downstream of plaintiff’s property; the calculation of water flow rates; consideration of rain rates; determination of the boundary of the 100 year flood plain; or other complex calculation.  In the instant case, it is undisputed that the properties owned by plaintiff and defendant had a common boundary marked by a small stream, or drainage ditch, . . . .  Thus, determination of the causal relationship between the fill dirt dumped on the hillside above the creek, and the subsequent flooding in plaintiff’s yard, implicates no scientific principle more complex than the truism that water flows downhill, and will carry loose material in its flow.  2006 WL 1222981 at *3.

The plaintiff in Van Reypen Associates, Inc. v. Teeter, ___N.C.App.___, 624 S.E.2d 401 (2006), pet. disc. rev. allowed (April 6, 2006) TA \l "Van Reypen Associates, Inc. v. Teeter, ___N.C.App.___, 624 S.E.2d 401 (2006), pet. disc. rev. allowed (April 6, 2006)" \s "Van Reypen Associates, Inc. v. Teeter, ___N.C.App.___, 624 S.E.2d 401 (2006), pet. disc. rev. allowed (April 6, 2006)" \c 1  alleged that excessive speed by the defendant, Teeter, caused a collision with a vehicle operated by Fisher.  As a result of the collision, the defendant’s truck struck a building owned by the plaintiff.  The defendant moved for summary judgment and attached the defendant’s affidavit stating that he was driving within the 35 mile per hour speed limit at the time of the accident.  In opposition to the defendant’s motion, the plaintiff filed the affidavit of David Brown, a professional engineer.  Brown stated that as a result of his investigation and experience, it was his opinion that the defendant was traveling 48 miles per hour at the time of the accident and that the negligence of the driver was the cause of the accident.  The trial court granted the defendant’s motion for summary judgment.


The Court of Appeals first held that the trial court had properly considered the affidavit of the defendant in determining summary judgment.  Even though Teeter was an interested witness, there was nothing in his affidavit “inherently suspect and the facts contained in the affidavit were not peculiarly within his knowledge.”  624 S.E.2d at 404.  Nothing offered by the plaintiff in opposition to the defendant’s motion for summary judgment raised a question about Teeter’s credibility or the facts in his affidavit.  

Concluding that the trial court had correctly refused to consider the speed opinions of the plaintiff’s expert, the Court of Appeals affirmed.

. . . the affidavit of Mr. Brown giving an expert opinion as to the speed of the vehicle at the time of the accident was inadmissible under the current law of this state.  It has long been the rule in North Carolina that “one who did not see a vehicle in motion will not be permitted to give an opinion as to its speed.”  Tyndall v. Harvey C. Hines Co., 226 N.C. 620, 39 S.E.2d 828, 830 (1946).”  624 S.E.2d at 405.

The defendant in State v. Edwards, ___N.C.App.___, 621 S.E.2d 333 (2005) TA \l "State v. Edwards, ___N.C.App.___, 621 S.E.2d 333 (2005)" \s "State v. Edwards, ___N.C.App.___, 621 S.E.2d 333 (2005)" \c 1  was convicted for first-degree murder and other offenses.  At trial, the defendant offered the expert testimony of a psychiatrist, Dr. James Hilkey.  The trial court excluded testimony by Dr. Hilkey about conversations he had with the defendant.  On appeal, the defendant contended that the excluded testimony was admissible under Rule 705 providing that an expert may disclose on cross-examination the underlying facts or data on which the opinions are based.


The Court of Appeals held that the trial court had properly excluded this testimony.

Here, because the State did not choose to explore the basis for Dr. Hilkey’s opinion, the trial court was not obligated to allow the expert to testify as to statements that formed the basis for this opinion. . . .  Since defendant’s remorse was not relevant to his ability to premeditate and deliberate, and since the trial court allowed Dr. Hilkey to testify extensively regarding his opinion and what he relied upon, excluding only the actual words used by defendant, we can perceived no abuse of discretion.  621 S.E.2d at 337.

The defendant in State v. Bunn, ___N.C.App.___, 619 S.E.2d 918 (2005) TA \l "State v. Bunn, ___N.C.App.___, 619 S.E.2d 918 (2005)" \s "State v. Bunn, ___N.C.App.___, 619 S.E.2d 918 (2005)" \c 1  was convicted of possession with intent to sell and deliver marijuana and cocaine.  Testimony of the State’s expert witness at trial included the opinions of a non-testifying expert.  On appeal, the defendant contended that his right of confrontation was violated and that the testimony about the non-testifying expert was hearsay.


The Court of Appeals affirmed the admission of the expert’s testimony and the conviction.

Under North Carolina case law, “testimony as to information relied upon by an expert when offered to show the basis for the expert’s opinion is not hearsay, since it is not offered as substantive evidence.”  [State v.] Huffstetler, 312 N.C. at 107, 322 S.E.2d at 120 [(1984)] . . . Indeed, our Supreme Court has stated that “[I]t is the expert opinion itself, not its underlying factual basis, that constitutes substantive evidence[,]” and that “[a]n expert may properly base his or her opinion on tests performed by another person, if the tests are of the type reasonably relied upon by experts in the field.”  State v. Fair, 354 N.C. 131,162, 557 S.E.2d 500,522 (2001), cert. denied, 535 U.S. 1114, 122 S.Ct. 2332, 153 L.Ed.2d 162 (2002).  619 S.E.2d at 920.


Elliott v. Muehlbach, ___N.C.App.___, 620 S.E.2d 266 (2005) TA \l "Elliott v. Muehlbach, ___N.C.App.___, 620 S.E.2d 266 (2005)" \s "Elliott v. Muehlbach, ___N.C.App.___, 620 S.E.2d 266 (2005)" \c 1  was an action by neighbors seeking to enjoin the operation of an all terrain vehicle racetrack as a nuisance.  At the hearing on the motion for a preliminary injunction, the plaintiff offered Dr. Noral Stewart as an expert.  Dr. Stewart is an expert in acoustics and noise control and in community and environmental noise.  On appeal, the defendant argued that it was error to admit the opinions of Dr. Stewart because he had not personally heard any of the sounds from the defendant’s track.  The Court of Appeals held that Dr. Stewart had been properly allowed to testify.

Rule 703 requires only that the facts or data upon which an expert bases his opinion be “of a type reasonably relied upon by experts in the particular field in forming opinions or inferences upon the subject.”  N.C.R.Evid. 703.  Dr. Stewart testified that he viewed the racetrack (although not while it was in use); reviewed aerial photos and topographical maps of the area; listened to recordings of the sound generated by the ATVs; and discussed the racetrack noise with several of the plaintiffs.  Defendants have made no showing and presented no argument suggesting that this information was an inadequate basis under Rule 703 for Dr. Stewart’s opinions.  Without such a showing, defendants’ arguments represent only “lingering questions or controversy concerning the quality of the expert’s conclusions [and] go to the weight of the testimony rather than its admissibility.”  Howerton, 358 N.C. at 461, 597 S.E.2d at 688.  620 S.E.2d at 271.

